

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# Predictive Effects of Length of Treatment and Type of Dialysis on African Americans' Quality of Life

Latoya Benjamin Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Epidemiology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences and Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Latoya Benjamin

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Gudeta Fufaa, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Cynthia Newell, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

# Abstract

Predictive Effects of Length of Treatment and Type of Dialysis on African Americans'

Quality of Life

by

Latoya Benjamin

MA, Nova Southeastern University, 2007

BS, Northern Caribbean University, 2001

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Epidemiology

Walden University

August 2023

## Abstract

Individuals on dialysis often face challenges with the management of their health, resulting in low health-related quality of life (HRQOL), but the extent of this impact has not been fully examined. The purpose of this quantitative cross-sectional study was, having accounted for relevant demographic variables such as age, gender, family history, employment status, to examine the effects of length of time for treatment and type of dialysis on HRQOL in African American end-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients. This study was guided by the socioecological model. Secondary data from 2016 to 2021 was obtained from the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC) database, a prospective cohort study of renal disease which was conducted from 2003 to 2022. This study consisted of 5112 participants. The targeted group was African American dialysis patients age 21-74. The results of the multiple linear regression modeling using data from the CRICS revealed no significant linear relationship between HROOL and length of time on dialysis, type of dialysis, and demographic variables such as age, gender, and family history. Only employment status showed a statistically significant linear relationship with HRQOL. The implications for positive social change are that the length of time on dialysis and type of dialysis treatment should not be used to predict HRQOL but employment status can be considered an important measure for promoting HRQOL among African American ESRD patients.

# Predictive Effects of Length of Treatment and Type of Dialysis on African Americans'

Quality of Life

by

Latoya Benjamin

MA, Nova Southeastern University, 2007

BS, Northern Caribbean University, 2001

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Epidemiology

Walden University

August 2023

# Dedication

First, I would like to thank God for his sustaining power, strength, endurance, and wisdom. I dedicate this dissertation to my cheerleader, my deceased mother Merveta Bailey. A special feeling of gratitude to my husband (Alton) and children (Ashleigh and Ava), who were able to cope and provide support during my extended nights of writing papers and fulfilling assignments. To my brother Kirk and my aunt Grace, who were there to support me along the way. To the remainder of my family members, I thank you for your support.

To my church family, Pastors, and friends who constantly prayed and checked in with me throughout the process. I also want to acknowledge my Professors, Committee Chair Dr. Fufaa, and Second Member Dr. Newell. Thanks for your dedication and advice each step of way.

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of Study	2
Problem Statement	5
Purpose of Study	6
Research Questions	7
Theoretical Framework	8
Nature of the Study	9
Definition of Terms	10
Assumptions	11
Limitations	11
Scope and Delimitations	12
Significance of the Study	13
Summary	14
Chapter 2: Literature Review	15
Literature Search Strategy	16
Theoretical Framework	17
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts	19
Patient Age and Health Care Outcomes	19
Length of Time in Kidney Dialysis Outcomes	21

# Table of Contents

Gender Factor in Kidney Dialysis Outcomes	22
Length of Time for Treatment	23
Overview of Diabetes as a Cause for Renal Disease and Dialysis	23
Dialysis	26
Demographics and ESRD	32
Socioeconomic Status and Employment	33
African American Population and Dialysis	34
Summary	35
Chapter 3: Research Method	
Research Design and Rationale	
Methodology	41
Population	41
Sampling and Sampling Procedure	41
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	44
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	45
Demographics	45
Dialysis	46
Quality of Life	46
Data Analysis Plan	47
Threats to Validity	48
Ethical Procedures	50
Summary	51

Chapter 4: Results	
Data Collection	54
Results	55
Descriptive Statistics	55
Research Question 1	57
Research Question 2	62
Research Question 3	65
Summary	73
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	75
Interpretation of the Findings	77
Finding 1	77
Finding 2	79
Finding 3	80
Limitations of the Study	81
Recommendations	82
Implications	83
Conclusion	85
References	87
Appendix A: CRIC Data Repository	112
Appendix B: G*Power Analysis	121
Appendix C: Kidney Disease Quality of Life Questionnaire	122

# List of Tables

Table 1. Categorical Variable Coding	45
Table 2. Frequency Analysis for Categorical Variables (N = 510) 5	56
Table 3. Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Variables (N = 510) 5	57
Table 4. Assessment of Multicollinearity Among Age, Gender, Family History, and   Employment Status	60
Table 5. Parameter Estimates for the Regression of Health-Related QoL on the   Demographic Variables	61
Table 6. Assessment of Multicollinearity Among Length of Time on Dialysis and the   Demographic Variables	65
Table 7. Assessment of Multicollinearity Among the Dummy Variables Representing th   Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis Groups	ie 68
Table 8. Parameter Estimates for the Regression of Health-Related QoL on Type of   Dialysis	69
Table 9. Assessment of Multicollinearity Among the Dummy Variables Representing   Type of Dialysis, Length of Time on Dialysis, and the Demographic Variables	72
Table 10. Parameter Estimates for the Regression of Health-Related QoL on Type of   Dialysis and Demographic Variables and the Interactions Between These Variables	73

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Assessment of the Normality Assumption for the Regression of Health- Related QoL on the Demographic Variables	8
Figure 2. Assessment of the Homoscedasticity Assumption for the Regression of Health-Related QoL on the Demographic Variables	9
Figure 3. Assessment of the Normality Assumption for the Regression of Health- Related QoL on Length of Time on Dialysis and the Demographic Variables	3
Figure 4. Assessment of the Homoscedasticity Assumption for the Regression of Health-Related QoL on Length of Time on Dialysis and the Demographic Variables 64	4
Figure 5. Assessment of the Normality Assumption for the Regression of Health- Related QoL on Type of Dialysis	7
Figure 6. Assessment of the Homoscedasticity Assumption for the Regression of Health-Related QoL on Type of Dialysis	8
Figure 7. Assessment of the Normality Assumption for the Regression of Health- Related QoL on Type of Dialysis and Demographic Variables and the Interactions Between These Variables	0
Figure 8. Assessment of the Homoscedasticity Assumption for the Regression of Health-Related QoL on Type of Dialysis and Demographic Variables and the Interactions Between These Variables	1

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

In the 21st century, the prevalence of chronic diseases such as end-stage renal disease (ESRD), the final stage of chronic kidney disease (CKD), is increasing yearly at a high rate (Nagpal et al., 2017). The prevalence of ESRD among individuals age 18 to 44 years is 6% (Garcia-Garcia et al., 2017). In the United States, 124,500 new cases were reported in 2017, with the incidence rate increasing (University of Michigan, 2019). Shahgholian and Yousefi (2015) predicted that by 2020, the number of cases for ESRD would reach 1,200 per million. Individuals who suffer from diabetes or high blood pressure are at greater risk of being affected with ESRD (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2015, 2017a, 2017b, 2018). ESRD is often life threatening because it does not allow for the removal of waste and water from the blood; therefore, patients require treatment through the administration of dialysis, which is the extraction of waste from the blood to ensure the regular functioning of kidneys (Vadakedath & Kandi, 2017). When left untreated, kidney disease also affects other organs in the body. Moreover, this situation affects the health-related quality of life (HRQOL) of individuals impacted by CKD (Nagpal et al., 2017).

Several researchers have studied the impact of ESRD on individuals' HRQOL, as well as their social, psychological, and mental functionalities (Nagpal et al., 2017). The number of studies that have systematically assessed the impact of dialysis on HRQOL among racial and ethnic minority populations are limited, however. Therefore, there was a need to quantify the impact of dialysis on the HRQOL of underrepresented populations such as African Americans. The potential positive social change linked to the current study is that through the findings of this study, practitioners and public health policymakers may gain a better understanding of how a person's social ecology combines with causes of ESRD and specific types of treatment to shape patients' HRQOL. This better understanding may contribute to the development of policies or practices to better serve members of the African American population most affected in terms of HRQOL.

In this chapter, I discuss the study's background and identify gaps in the literature. The problem statement, purpose of the study, significance of the study, and research questions are provided in relation to the identified gaps. The theoretical framework that was used to guide this study is also presented. The study assumptions, limitations, definitions, and scope are also discussed.

### **Background of Study**

In the United States, CKD, and its final stage, ESRD, have become an epidemic, and as a result, this disease has significantly impacted the HRQOL of those whom it affects (Chiaranai, 2016). More than 35% of the patients in the United States currently undergoing dialysis care are African American (CDC, 2017b). At the ESRD stage of CKD, patients suffer kidney failure and require dialysis to perform the function of the kidneys. Diabetes has been found to be the major cause of CKD and kidney failure among the African American population (National Kidney Foundation [NKF], 2017). In the United States, approximately 4.9 million African Americans over the age of 20 years have diagnosed or undiagnosed diabetes (Casagrande et al., 2018).

HRQOL, particularly health-related HRQOL, was the key outcome of interest in the current study. The variable of health-related HRQOL was referred to as HRQOL. As

it pertains to CKD and dialysis, HRQOL may be divided into the dimensions of effects of kidney disease, burdens of kidney disease, work status, cognitive function, social interaction, sexual function, sleep, social support, dialysis staff support, and patient satisfaction (Hays et al., 1997). This division is supported by a factor analysis and validation (Korevaar et al., 2002). The distribution of HRQOL across these dimensions indicates that HRQOL has mental, physical, and social components. Although HRQOL seems a straightforward variable on the surface, it is a multidimensional measure that incorporates numerous key outcomes.

Researchers have examined many factors related to renal disease and HRQOL. For example, cross-sectional quantitative studies have been conducted to find more information on the relationship between diminishing HRQOL impairments (Bertolin, 2016). Such survey research has been pivotal for the assessment of productivity for family, work, and other social components. Within this literature, several key demographics have emerged as potentially important predictors of health-related HRQOL. One such predictor is race. The experience of dialysis differs along racial lines because the incidence of risk factors for ESRD is significantly higher among some racial groups, particularly Black Americans (Garcia-Garcia et al., 2017; Laster et al., 2018; Norris et al., 2017). Despite this, the perspectives of these population groups remain underrepresented in the literature (Roberti et al., 2018).

Another potentially predictive demographic factor is age. In an interpretative phenomenological analysis study, Sahaf et al. (2017) described the experiences of people over 60 years old who underwent dialysis. A major aspect of the lived experiences of the patients referenced in the result was that of uncertainty, suggesting a psychological toll. Additionally, Salter et al. (2015) conducted a qualitative study on the experiences of 36 African American patients with hemodialysis to identify their views related to kidney transplantation. Their findings demonstrated that older males and females were more positive regarding their experiences related to dialysis than younger ones. Results such as these suggest that age may be a key factor in determining CKD patients' overall outlooks.

Gender may also be a factor that impacts dialysis experiences. For example, assessments conducted on the patients' social functioning indicated that when undergoing dialysis, women have a higher level of anxiety and a lower level of positive attitudes than men (Gerogianni et al., 2014). These psychosocial factors may connect with HRQOL in meaningful ways (Hays et al., 1007). In addition, age is a relevant factor because CKD is more prevalent among women (16%) than men (13%; CDC, 2017a). Considering patients' gender may be relevant to predicting HRQOL outcomes from dialysis.

The type of dialysis could also influence the HRQOL of ESRD patients. Hemodialysis (HD) and peritoneal dialysis (PD) are the types of dialysis available to ESRD patients. Although both PD and HD can be carried out at home, HD requires more specialized equipment and professional personnel (Harris, 2020). Because HD is often done by professionals, it places significantly less responsibility on patients. Conversely, PD provides patients more autonomy and flexibility (Sher & Maldonado, 2019). Both PD and HD have advantages and disadvantages in terms of their influence on a dialysis patient's HRQOL (Sher & Maldonado, 2019). Much research has been done, but additional investigation was needed.

#### **Problem Statement**

According to the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease (NIDDKD, 2016), over 661,000 Americans suffer from kidney failure. Out of this number, 468,000 individuals are on dialysis and approximately 193,000 live with an operating kidney as a result of a transplant. Thirty million (15%) of the adults living in the United States suffer from CKD (CDC, 2017b). Moreover, the disease is more prevalent among women (16%) than men (13%; CDC, 2017b). African Americans constitute 35% of all patients receiving dialysis for kidney failure (CDC, 2017a). Overall, about 4.9 million African Americans over the age of 20 years have diagnosed or nondiagnosed diabetes, which is a significant contributor to kidney disease (NKF, 2016). Furthermore, statistics indicated that compared with European Americans, the incidence of kidney failure is 3.7 times higher among African Americans (NIDDKD, 2016). Additionally, Niang et al. (2018) found that patients on dialysis for a longer time period had lower levels of HRQOL. Similarly, Mujais et al. (2009) reported that patients who had been on dialysis for a longer period had a higher burden of disease and lower HRQOL scores.

Time commitment presents a burden for this type of illness, leading to the loss of productivity at work, loss of ability to support family members, and loss to overall society (Walker et al., 2016). Further research is needed to quantify the burdens of CKD with respect to social factors (Roberti et al., 2018). In addition, studies with larger sample sizes are needed to better understand the effects of dialysis for racial minorities (Nagpal et al., 2017; Sciberras & Scerri, 2017). The problem is that individuals on dialysis often

face challenges with regard to the management of their health, resulting in low HRQOL (Lim et al., 2016), but the full, quantified extent of this HRQOL toll is not fully understood (Roberti et al., 2018).

Length of time for treatment has a significant impact on dialysis outcomes and the general patient experience. HD is usually done three times a week for 3 to 4 hours a day, depending on how well the kidneys work and how much fluid weight they have gained between treatments (NIDDKD, 2016). HD can be done in a special dialysis center in a hospital or at home. How long individuals receive treatment determines their life expectancy. According to Sahaf et al. (2017), the average life expectancy on dialysis is 5–10 years, but Roberti et al. (2018) established that many patients have lived well on dialysis for 20 or even 30 years. The length of time is also a chief determinant due to the differences in patient outcomes. As observed by Nagpal et al. (2017), some people feel better the first week whereas others notice a difference after a few months.

#### **Purpose of Study**

The purpose of the current quantitative cross-sectional study was to examine the effects of length of time for treatment (how long patients have been receiving treatment) and type of dialysis on patients' HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. I used data from the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort (CRIC) study of renal disease, which included key outcome data for renal disease patients such as kidney disease-related HRQOL data, which is an 11-dimension construct that is measured using the Kidney Disease Quality of Life (KDQoL)-36 instrument (American College Health Association [ACHA], 2018). The

dependent variable in this study was HRQOL, and the independent variables were length of time for treatment and type of dialysis.

## **Research Questions**

RQ1: Is there a significant relationship between demographic variables (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African Americans ESRD patients?

 $H_01$ : There is no significant relationship between demographic predictors (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL

in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 1: There is a statistically significant relationship between demographic predictors (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

RQ2: Is there a significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients?

 $H_02$ : There is no significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

RQ3: Do the variables of length of time for treatment on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation moderate the relationships between dialysis and health-related kidney disease and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients?

 $H_0$ 3: Variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation do not moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 3: Variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

I employed the ecological model of Bronfenbrenner (1979) as the theoretical framework. The theory was developed to recognize that individuals affect and are affected by a complex range of social influences and nested environmental interactions (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). The ecological model identifies many facets that influence the health behavior of individuals undergoing health challenges. The ecological model is an approach to health care that is designed to take in the environmental aspects found within an individual's social ecology that may impact or otherwise affect their reaction to the disease in question or ability to deal with it (ACHA, 2018). Adopting the ecological model as a framework enabled me to acquire insights into the impact of dialysis on an individual's overall HRQOL and how ecological demographics factor into that. According to Hays et al. (1997), KDQoL is a complex variable including the dimensions of effects of kidney disease, burdens of kidney disease, work status, cognitive function, social support, dialysis staff support, and patient satisfaction.

Individuals living with CKD face many challenges. According to Lim et al. (2016), the HRQOL of patients who undergo dialysis is impaired, which has also been

correlated with clinical outcomes such as mortality and morbidity. As a result of the current study, health care professionals and their families may be better informed about the ecological factors affecting the HRQOL of African American patients who are undergoing dialysis. This may enable these professionals to deliver person-centered care that advances the needs of the patients.

## Nature of the Study

The current study was quantitative in nature and included a cross-sectional design. Rather than looking at broader, overarching phenomena, quantitative researchers focus on specific variables and the relationships between them (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). By asking closed-ended questions, quantitative researchers can gather and analyze data from large sample sizes with relative efficiency (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). These large sample sizes make quantitative inquiry more empirical than qualitative inquiry, affording significant statistical power and generalizability of the outcomes (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). The quantitative methodology was appropriate for the current study because this type of research addressed the relationships between key variables, including the predictors of demographic factors and the type of HD that a patient is undergoing. Furthermore, research using larger sample sizes is needed with respect to specific topic (Nagpal et al., 2017; Sciberras & Scerri, 2017), making the quantitative approach appropriate.

A correlational design is a nonexperimental approach is used to assess associations between variables without manipulating or controlling them (Curtis et al., 2016). A correlational design was appropriate for the current study because the purpose

9

was to examine the effects of length of time for treatment and type of dialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors (age, gender, occupation, and family history) of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. Individual-level factors, socioeconomic status, and health behaviors are independent variables, while dependent variables are screening tests; sigmoidoscopy, colonoscopy, or blood stool test. I used data from the CRIC study of renal disease, which included key outcome data for renal disease patients such as kidney disease-related QoL data, which is an 11-dimension construct that is measured using the KDQoL-36 instrument (ACHA, 2018). Data were analyzed using a linear regression model and correlation analysis.

# **Definition of Terms**

*Burden of kidney disease*: The impact that CKD has on individuals, society, and health care systems (Hill et al., 2016).

*Chronic kidney disease (CKD)*: A condition in which the kidneys are destroyed and incapable of processing blood as they should (Hsu & Powe, 2017).

*Continuous Renal Replacement Therapies*: A kind of therapy that is used to provide support for acute kidney injuries (Niang et al., 2018).

*Diabetic nephropathy*: The damage to the kidneys as a result of being diagnosed with diabetes (i.e., patient constantly has high blood-sugar levels; Rett & Hostalek, 2019).

*End-stage renal disease (ESRD)*: Stage 5 (i.e., the last stage) of CKD (Hsu & Powe, 2017).

*Health-related quality of life*: An individual's perceived physical and mental health status and the impact that health conditions have on their daily activities, social relationships, and overall well-being (Mapes et al., 2003).

*Hemodialysis (HD)*: A type of dialysis in which the blood of the kidneys that are not functioning normally are purified by a machine (Harris, 2020).

*Hypertensive nephropathy*: A situation in which constant blood pressure issues (such as high blood pressure) cause the vasculature of the kidneys to get damaged (Himmelfarb & Ikizler, 2018).

*Length of time for treatment*: The period of time during which a patient has been undergoing dialysis or receiving treatment after kidney failure (Nagpal et al., 2017).

*Peritoneal dialysis (PD)*: A type of dialysis in which waste in the blood is cleaned by the inside lining of a person's stomach, acting as a natural filter (Harris, 2020).

# Assumptions

The assumptions of the study were those inherent in the research design. I assumed that all participants were truthful in their responses in the CRICS data. I also assumed that the use of a quantitative method would yield meaningful results regarding the research topic. These assumptions were shared with other studies drawing on CRICS data and with a large body of literature that included quantitative methodology to address CKD, ESRD, and HRQOL issues (Harris, 2020; Hsu & Powe, 2017; Niang et al., 2018).

# Limitations

Several limitations affected the outcome of the study. First, there was the possibility of not achieving the required number of participants. This limitation was

addressed by using snowball sampling as a back method to recruit additional participants if the minimum sample size was not achieved using random sampling. Second, access to some participants may have been challenging to me due to wider geographical distribution. This challenge was mitigated using an online platform to distribute the survey questionnaires.

In addition, the study was limited by self-reported data. Because I relied on selfreported data, results may not be fully accurate regarding the underlying issues (see Lauritsen, 2017). Data may have incorporated some of the participants' biases. HRQOL is a subjective topic; therefore, the limitations imposed by the use of self-reported data were lower than they would otherwise have been. Additionally, although the demographic factors chosen were key, it is possible that they excluded other factors that would have significantly impacted the model. Including a fully comprehensive set of demographics, however, was beyond the scope of the study.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

There were two delimitations of the study. First, this study was specific to African American dialysis patients age 21 to 74 years. I selected this age range because it delimited the population to adults within the range of typical adulthood, a period over which default HRQOL should remain somewhat similar, and because it aligned with the data set in the CRIC study. Findings may not be generalizable to populations outside of the stipulated age bracket. Second, because convenience sampling was necessary as opposed to random sampling, it is possible that the results were not fully reflective of the population. The data for the study were from a large-scale cohort study, the CRICS study,

which improved the chances of the data being an accurate reflection of the population (see Yarkoni, 2022).

## Significance of the Study

The results of this study quantified the social emotional burdens of ESRD and dialysis in a way that may help inform future health policy. The targeted population constituted African American dialysis patients age 21 to 74 years. Such an analysis may provide insights into the experiences of dialysis patients, leading to greater awareness regarding its burden on the overall HRQOL. The benefits that emerge from promoting awareness regarding the burden faced by dialysis patients may support the mobilization and management of families and others who have been impacted so as to improve HRQOL outcomes. The implications of the research findings to positive social change at the individual level are that the length of dialysis treatment should not be used to predict the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. Recommendations based on this study include further delving into the role of employment/occupation status in the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients, examining the role of treatment in the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients, and exploring other potential moderating variables.

The practical benefits of the study lie include their potential to mitigate the negative HRQOL impacts of ESRD. ESRD is the final stage of CKD and can result in emotional, economic, physical, and social burdens for the sufferers (Agarwal, 2016). In both developed and underdeveloped countries, the leading causes of ESRD are diabetic nephropathy and hypertensive nephropathy. The treatment for this disease requires dialysis or a transplant because of the damage the disease causes to the kidneys.

Researchers have concluded that ESRD is the most precise endpoint decision for patients with CKD (Agarwal, 2016). Therefore, understanding the HRQOL burdens of ESRD and how they can be managed is critical to helping patients with CKD and ESRD.

# Summary

The purpose of the current quantitative cross-sectional study was to examine the effects of length of time for treatment (i.e., how long patients have been receiving treatment) and type of dialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. The purpose was fulfilled by answering three quantitative research questions. The findings of this study may provide insights into the burdens experienced by patients on dialysis. Moreover, suggestions are provided for future research and recommendations to aid families and caregivers in improving dialysis patients' HRQOL. In Chapter 2, I review the literature that was relevant to chronic dialysis patients and the impact of dialysis on their HRQOL.

### Chapter 2: Literature Review

The problem was that individuals on dialysis often face challenges with regard to the management of their health, and as a result their HRQOL suffers. The quantified extent of this toll, however, was not fully understood. To address that problem, I examined the effects of length of time for treatment and type of dialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. In this chapter, I review the literature upon which the study was based.

The field of nephrology has undergone considerable advancements in terms of research. CKD may affect a person's HRQOL. Pain, decreased mobility, disruption of activities, and mental health issues in CKD patients negatively affect their HRQOL (Higuita-Gutiérrez et al., 2019; Pauly et al., 2020; Vides & Martins, 2017). HD treatment for CKD can be challenging because it requires strict diet and medication adherence (Higuita-Gutiérrez et al., 2019). Dialysis can also cause fatigue, which limits patients' daily activities (Higuita-Gutiérrez et al., 2019).

ESRD is as a stark demonstration of racial and ethnic disparities in health. African American people are more susceptible to requiring renal replacement therapy than their White counterparts (Laster et al., 2018). Despite their higher risk of developing ESRD, African Americans have been underrepresented in kidney transplantation (Wang et al., 2019), as well as pre-ESRD nephrology care and education that may have prevented the escalation of their condition (Harding et al., 2017; Nee et al., 2017). These racial disparities may play important roles in African American ESRD patients' HRQOL. In the current study, the effects of different types of HD on patient HRQOL outcomes and demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients were examined. The chapter includes a discussion of the literature regarding HRQOL, the ecological model, diabetes, CKD, ESRD, the African American population in the United States, and acute and chronic dialysis.

## **Literature Search Strategy**

To guide the present study, existing literature regarding ESRD, dialysis, diabetes, the ecological model, and other related topics were examined. Research strategies involved the use of the Walden Library and Google Scholar. The following databases and journal from the Walden University Library were used: MEDLINE, CINAHL, PsycINFO, ProQuest Central Essentials, Academic Search Complete, and PubMED. Moreover, the following organizations were searched online to access statistical data: CDC, American Diabetes Association (ADA), World Health Organization, ACHA, and NIDDKD.

The following keywords were used: *diabetes*, *dialysis*, *type of diabetes*, *Type 1 diabetes*, *Type 2 diabetes*, *diabetic nephropathy*, *quality of life*, *African American*, *chronic kidney disease*, *acute kidney disease*, *end-stage renal dialysis*, *acute and chronic diabetes*, and *ecological model*. Most articles and books (86.7%) were published between 2017 and 2020, with some important literature (13.3%) from 2016 and earlier. Many of the studies were about African American people, although no study was found that quantitatively investigated the HRQOL of African American dialysis patients. Reviewed studies were primarily peer reviewed and published in English.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The current study was guided by the ecological model developed by Bronfenbrenner (1979). Because the ecological model takes into consideration social factors that influence health care, including intrapersonal, interpersonal, institutional, community, and public policies, the ecological model was appropriate for this study. The constructs of the model include intrapersonal, interpersonal, organizational, community, physical environmental, and policy. The ecological model remains relevant because social inequalities continue to create challenges in health care (Hays et al., 1997). Therefore, the ecological model was appropriate for examining the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

The theory recognizes that there are multiple aspects of a developing child's life that interact with and affect the child. Bronfenbrenner (1979) developed the theory by looking beyond individual development and taking into account wider influencing factors and the context (or ecology) of development. Bronfenbrenner proposed the ecological systems theory based on these dynamic interactions that the environments have on the developing child. Bronfenbrenner suggested that the environment of the child is a nested arrangement of structures, each contained within the next in order of how much of an impact they have on a child. Bronfenbrenner (1992) named these structures the microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem, arguing that because the five systems are interrelated, the influence of one system on a child's development depends on its relationship with the others.

The microsystem is the first level of Bronfenbrenner's (1979) theory, and comprises the things that have direct contact with the child in their immediate environment, such as parents, siblings, teachers, and school peers. As indicated by Darling (2007), relationships in a microsystem are bidirectional, meaning the child can be influenced by other people in their environment and is also capable of changing the beliefs and actions of other people as well. On the other hand, the mesosystem encompasses the interactions between the child's microsystems, such as the interactions between the child's parents and teachers or between school peers and siblings (Paat, 2013). According to Bronfenbrenner (1992), the mesosystem is where a person's individual microsystems do not function independently but are interconnected and assert influence upon one another. The exosystem incorporates other formal and informal social structures, which do not themselves contain the child but indirectly influence them as they affect one of the microsystems (Bronfenbrenner, 1992; Ryan, 2001). The exosystem constitutes the neighborhood, parents' workplaces, parents' friends, and the mass media. The macrosystem is a component of Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory that focuses on how cultural elements affect a child's development, such as socioeconomic status, wealth, poverty, and ethnicity (Bronfenbrenner, 1992; Ryan, 2001). Finally, the chronosystem consists of all of the environmental changes that occur over the person's lifetime that influence development, including major life transitions and historical events (Bronfenbrenner, 1992).

The theory has been used in similar studies. For instance, Ma et al. (2017) engaged in a study using the ecological model in which they explored public mental health and practice in relation to health outcomes. The researchers focused on examining how different concepts of Bronfenbrenner's theory have been used in (public) mental health research, and analyzed the value of these different uses for guiding public mental health policy and practice. Findings revealed that using Bronfenbrenner's ecological system concepts by clearly considering interactions between and within these systems can result in recommendations that are most useful for guiding public mental health policy and practice. In a similar study, Taylor and Haintz (2018) used the theory to study the social-ecological stressors that youths experience during the first year following an HIV diagnosis. Their findings revealed the need for youth-focused services that assist with multiple layers of stressors during the first year following an HIV diagnosis.

# Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts Patient Age and Health Care Outcomes

Health care outcomes for patients with kidney issues are influenced by the patient's age. Giguère et al. (2020) explored health care outcomes with a focus on patients with chronic diseases. The researchers used a systematic review approach and searched MEDLINE, Embase, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), HealthStar, CINAHL, ERIC, CAB Abstracts, Global Health, and EPOC Register. For analyses, the researchers grouped the included studies according to study design, type of outcome, and type of comparison. For controlled trials, the researchers reported the median effect size for each outcome within each study, the median effect size across outcomes for each study, and the median of these effect sizes across studies. Findings revealed that although practitioners had attempted to improve kidney dialysis outcomes, the age factor limited the extent of their interventions. These findings are consistent with the results obtained by Buur et al. (2021) who explored whether conservative kidney management offers a quantity or HRQOL benefit compared to dialysis for some patients with kidney problems. The researchers focused on the elements of patient age, mortality, and HRQOL. Findings revealed that when it came to patients older than 60 years, kidney dialysis procedures seldom produced the anticipated quality of health care outcomes.

These findings have also been corroborated by other researchers. For instance, Rose et al. (2017) investigated survival among patients who underwent long exposure to kidney dialysis. The researchers hypothesized that although existing evidence indicated that kidney transplantation is associated with better survival compared to dialysis, age was a critical factor. The study involved 5,365 patients in the Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients. The researchers focused on this population to determine the adjusted relative risk of death in recipients of a deceased donor kidney transplant after 10 years of dialysis treatment with a focus on the age factor. Findings revealed that the risk of death for patients above the age of 65 was higher when compared to other patient populations, even after kidney dialysis. These findings are consistent with the results obtained by Verberne et al. (2018), who investigated conservative care versus dialysis for advanced kidney patients. The researchers paid attention to the age component hypothesizing that patient age was a key determinant when it came to health care outcomes. Findings indicated that for patients age 60–80 years there were no differences between patients managed conservatively and dialysis patients on physical and mental health summary scores.

# Length of Time in Kidney Dialysis Outcomes

Length of treatment time has been associated with notable dialysis outcomes. Levey et al. (2020) explored the aspects of dialysis timing, dialysis initiation, and frequency of hemodialysis sessions. The researchers focused on patients with advanced CKD receiving HD and included randomized or controlled clinical trials in patients undergoing long-term HD if they reported outcomes of interest. Findings revealed that more than 3 times per week HD and extended-length HD during a short follow-up did not improve clinical outcomes compared to conventional HD and resulted in a greater number of vascular access procedures, which constituted very low-quality evidence. These findings are consistent with the results obtained by Webster et al. (2017) who investigated the influences of HD durations on patient outcomes. The researchers found that HD using high-flux membranes did not reduce all-cause mortality but reduced cardiovascular mortality compared to HD using low-flux membranes over a duration of 4 weeks. Consistent with findings from these two studies, Jean et al. (2017) explored factors influencing successful kidney dialysis and discovered that earlier dialysis therapy initiation and more frequent and longer HD did not improve clinical outcomes compared to conventional HD.

Duration of kidney problem treatment has been associated with mortality rates. Hwang et al. (2019) investigated the impacts of kidney duration dialysis on patient outcomes with particular focus on patient outcomes and HD duration treatment. The researchers noted that a decrease in the average duration of HD treatment time is a continuing phenomenon. Therefore, they investigated the relationship of 3-year mortality to duration of dialysis associating mortality with duration of dialysis treatments. Findings revealed that patients receiving an average dialysis treatment duration of less than 3.5 hours had relative mortality risks of 1.17 to 2.18 compared with those with treatments longer than 3.5 hours. These findings are consistent with the results obtained by Prezelin-Reydit et al. (2019) who explored the impact of kidney dialysis procedures on patient outcomes. The researchers hypothesized that reverse causation, which is the possibility that more seriously ill patients received dialysis for a shorter time, was unlikely. Findings indicated that duration of the dialysis procedure is an important element in determining patient mortality as one of the factors determining the adequacy of dialysis.

## **Gender Factor in Kidney Dialysis Outcomes**

Gender has been associated with differing outcomes for patients who undergo kidney dialysis. Alscher et al. (2017) investigated gender-related differences with regard to kidney dialysis. This researcher had realized from literature that gender-specific differences between patients on renal replacement therapy had been rarely investigated. The researcher focused on PD patients and used Cox regression to examine associations between technique failure and gender. Findings revealed that technical survival rates were significantly better in women compared to men over 3 decades and death due to cardiovascular events, and PD-associated peritonitis decreased significantly over the 3 decades in both sexes. These findings are consistent with the results obtained by Brar and Markell (2019), who explored the impact of gender and gender disparities in patients with kidney disease. Initial findings indicated a higher prevalence of CKD in women, but there were fewer women on renal replacement therapy than men. Additional findings indicated that men may progress to ESRD more rapidly even after kidney dialysis compared to women.

## Length of Time for Treatment

Treatment length of time and frequency of dialysis vary across the world. T. Lee et al. (2021) noted that due to the economic burden and health insurance, uninsured patients in Mexico receive dialysis only if they pay out of pocket. As a result, many die without receiving dialysis because they cannot afford weekly treatments. Additionally, India reported that there are significant barriers to treatment that impact HRQOL. Observation studies have indicated the association between longer times of treatment and the survival rates of HD patients. The blood flow of patients with longer treatment times were lower and provided stability for these patients (Thurlow et al., 2021).

#### **Overview of Diabetes as a Cause for Renal Disease and Dialysis**

One of the key predictors of ESRD is diabetes. Diabetes is a serious public disease all over the world. Diabetes materializes when the pancreas refuses to produce insulin or blocks the entry of glucose for energy (Moini, 2019). In the United States, diabetes is the seventh leading cause of death, and over 30.3 million adults currently have undiagnosed diabetes (CDC, 2017a). Moreover, over 84.1 million adults in the United States (1 in every 3 people) suffer from prediabetes, with 90% of them being unaware of this. What is alarming is that even at the prediabetic stage, individuals are already at risk for CKD (Rett & Hostalek, 2019).

Prediabetes occurs when the sugar amount in the body is greater than normal but has not intensified enough to be diagnosed as Type 2 diabetes. Because no universal definition and standards exist for prediabetes, prevalence rates are not well-defined. Current trends and projections, however, have shown increasing rates of prediabetes worldwide (Rett & Hostalek, 2019). The increased risk for CKD even at prediabetes reveals how the two conditions are strongly interconnected.

There are three major different types of diabetes mellitus: Type 1, Type 2, and gestational diabetes (GD). Type 1 diabetes occurs when the body is accidentally damaged because of the destruction of the pancreatic cells that produce insulin. This type of diabetes is less common than Type 2 diabetes (CDC, 2018). Type 2 diabetes is more widespread than any form of diabetes, taking on 90% of all diabetes mellitus cases (Zhou et al., 2018). It occurs when the body is unable to use insulin effectively. This resistance leads to a lack of maintenance in the blood flow levels (ADA, 2019a, 2019b). Gestational diabetes occurs in pregnant women who have never been diagnosed with diabetes but experience elevated blood-glucose levels during pregnancy. The prevalence rate for GD in the United States has been steadily increasing, with reports from 2010 revealing a rate of 9.2% (DeSisto et al., 2014). On the basis of birth certificates alone, the 2010 prevalence rate was only 4.6%, which then increased to 8.2% in the year 2016 (Zhou et al., 2018). Although the present study only investigated Type 2 diabetes, the most common type, it is important to note the increasing rates of all types of diabetes.

African Americans also disproportionately suffer from diabetes. According to the ADA (2013), 13.2% African Americans aged 20 years and above have diabetes.

Moreover, it has been reported that compared with non-Hispanic Whites, African Americans are more likely to have diabetes (ADA, 2013). In a study conducted by NIH (2018) in Birmingham (Alabama), Chicago (Illinois), Minneapolis (Minnesota), and Oakland (California), it was found that the weight and fat around the abdomen was the major factor behind the higher rates in diabetes among African Americans compared with White Americans (NIH, 2018). Given the above figures and findings, African Americans may need specific culturally relevant interventions to adjust their lifestyles as a disadvantaged population.

The repercussions of diabetes are wide ranging. First, the disease puts immense economic burden on a country's health care system (Bommer et al., 2018). Reported absolute cost for the year 2015 was at \$1.32 trillion worldwide. This cost was projected to increase almost twofold in the year 2030 (Bommer et al., 2018). In the United States alone, health care costs related to diabetes was estimated at \$302 billion in 2017, with the additional burden of loss of labor due to diabetes at \$102 billion (Dall et al., 2019). These financial burdens were purported to be approximately \$1,240 per person (Dall et al., 2019).

For another, it negatively affects one's HRQOL. Health care costs of individuals with diabetes increase substantially with the added burden of CKD (Blonde et al., 2019). Dialysis maintenance with or without a diabetes diagnosis may encounter both hyperglycoma and hypoglycemia through multifactorial mechanisms related to kidney dysfunction, the uremic environment, and dialysis (Rhee et al., 2014). Because of that, diabetes becomes the leading cause of ESRD in both developed and undeveloped
countries (Williams, 2019). Individuals with diabetes are indeed faced with several disadvantages, including higher rates of CKD, which negatively impacts their HRQOL.

Existing literature also illustrates that diabetes is a major factor for the high rates of dialysis throughout the world. This happens because when diabetes has already caused ESRD, it requires dialysis (Williams, 2019). African Americans continue to register high rates of dialysis due to lifestyle and economic deportment, as well as limited knowledge and accessibility to alternative options such as kidney transplantation (Cabacungan et al., 2020). This condition presents a unique context that may influence their HRQOL. The present cohort study on African American dialysis patients is of significant value as it may provide empirical evidence on patients' perspectives regarding how their dialysis treatments impact their HRQOL. Their experience of dialysis may be unique because of possible social factors, requiring further investigation. The following section discusses existing literature on different types of dialysis and the possible influence of social factors such as race on patients' experiences with dialysis.

#### **Dialysis**

Kidney diseases disrupt the flow of activities for patients, their families, and their caregivers. Without treatment, death is normally the result; however, life can be sustained through the continuation of dialysis (NIDDK, 2018). Patients suffering from ESRD can select either of the following options of treatment: hemodialysis (HD), peritoneal dialysis (PD), and transplantation (Harris, 2020). These treatment options compensate for weakened kidney function. Dialysis supports two of the functions that a damaged kidney cannot perform by helping in the extraction of waste material manufactured by the body

on a regular basis. Moreover, dialysis also supports the extraction of salt and water from the body. Alternatively, kidney transplantation is the more effective—but more expensive—option for ESRD patients (Harris, 2020). The existing treatment options for ESRD present opportunities for patients to undergo treatments other than the usual hemodialysis; however, not all options are available to or easily accessible for all patients.

Because of the high cost of HD, low-income countries have difficulty in obtaining access to care for ESRD. Harris (2020) reported that annual costs of HD alone in the United States estimated at \$42 billion. Although PD is relatively cheaper than HD, most countries prioritize HD over PD because of patient or physician preference, familiarity, late referrals, or other reasons (Niang et al., 2018). In some low-income countries, PD may be more expensive due to the need to import the necessary fluids and supplies for the treatment (Niang et al., 2018). The financial burdens related to ESRD treatments may impact patients' HRQOL as they struggle to find and access the most cost-effective treatment for them. This warrants further investigation on how each type of dialysis affects HRQOL in a disadvantaged population.

Existing treatment options vary in terms of processes. Although both PD and HD can be carried out at home, HD requires more specialized equipment and professional personnel (Harris, 2020). As HD is often done by professionals, it places significantly less responsibility on patients. Conversely, PD provides patients more autonomy and flexibility (Sher & Maldonado, 2019). Both PD and HD have their own advantages and

disadvantages in terms of their influence on a dialysis patient's HRQOL (Sher & Maldonado, 2019).

Kidney transplantation has the major advantage of prolonging life after the procedure in comparison to both HD and PD (Axelrod et al., 2018). It was also purported to lead to better HRQOL, as patients were mostly able to return to their routines and activities before the onset of their disease (Rocha et al., 2020). As a major surgical procedure, however, kidney transplantation may result in significant distress and frustrations for the patient (Rocha et al., 2020). Considering these advantages and disadvantages, patients who are presented with these options must carefully examine and consider the procedures before agreeing to their treatment plan.

The process of PD presents more flexibility for patients to continue with their daily routines than HD. Peritoneal dialysis necessitates the insertion of a catheter in the peritoneal section, while HD encompasses the positioning of vascular entry (Harris, 2020). The peritoneum is the layer that forms as a border around the cavity that plays vital roles in selective fluid and cell transport, trans-cellular migration, and other protective functions (Isaza-Restrepo et al., 2018). When the peritoneal cavity is saturated with the dialyzing fluid and the purified blood is released through the peritoneal layer, a purified fluid known as dialysate is expelled into the abdomen through a catheter (Stromberg, 2020). This fluid renewal is conducted over a few hours (NIDDKD, 2018a, 2018b, 2018c, 2018d, 20183). The process of PD may be more appealing to individuals with busy schedules, such as those who need to continue employment.

Peritoneal dialysis can further be differentiated into more specific processes. There are three types of peritoneal dialysis: continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD), continuous cycle peritoneal dialysis (CCPD), and intermittent peritoneal dialysis (IPD; NIDDKD, 2018c; Stromberg, 2020). CAPD is a continuous process and does not require a machine; as a result, it is the most commonly used option. Moreover, CAPD is self-operated, with a duration of 4–6 hours per treatment. The CCPD and CAPD procedures are similar, with the exception that in the case of CCPD, there is a machine that is connected to the catheter, which automatically fills and drains the dialysate of the abdomen throughout the course of the night. CCPD is performed for a duration of 10–12 hours each day. As for IPD, a duration of 36–44 hours per week is required for treatment. IPD is performed within a hospital setting with the use of a machine (NIDDKD, 2018b). Although not statistically significant, a meta-analysis by Zazzeroni et al. (2017) indicated that PD is related to slightly better HRQOL than HD. Peritoneal dialysis warrants further investigation as an alternative to HD that may possibly allow for better HRQOL.

The older and more established treatment for CKD is HD. The HD treatment is received in the arms, which is then transmitted through a machine with a dialyzer (NIDDKD, 2018b). The treatment is conducted through a specific filter that is used to purify the blood using a machine for a duration of 2–4 hours, 5–7 times per week. Recently, nocturnal HD, which involves 6–10 hours of HD, has gained attention as a more intensive procedure leading to better health outcomes for ESRD patients (Koh, 2019). Hemodialysis treatment can be conducted at a facility and or at home (NIDDKD, 2018d). Home HD has been purported to increase patient HRQOL, especially with

developments on patient-friendly equipment (Trinh & Chan, 2017). As the HD procedure continues to develop, it remains to be a viable treatment for ESRD.

A major reason for patients' difficulty in choosing the right treatment option is because they lack the education from health care providers. Lipford et al. (2018) indicated that African American patients are also disadvantaged in terms of patient education and health literacy, recommending a need for a liaison that could properly explain treatment details to African American patients in a way they could understand. Providing initial education regarding treatment options can reduce the patients' anxiety, thereby maximizing the intervention's ability to decrease the progression of the disease (St. Clair Russell & Boulware, 2018). Many patients with CKD reportedly felt uninformed regarding their conditions and treatment options, which could cause regret if the treatment did not align with the patients' wishes and preferred lifestyle (Saeed et al., 2019).

In reference to dialysis ESRD patients, many medical challenges may arise as side effects of the treatment, including cardiovascular disease, atherosclerosis, vascular access, and decreased HRQOL (NIH Consensus Statement, 1993). Discussing HRQOL with their physicians appeared to be an important step for patients before choosing a treatment option (Saeed et al., 2019). Patient knowledge regarding these challenges may be vital in determining their subsequent HRQOL during treatment, as they may be more prepared. As explained above, the existing treatment options for ESRD are diverse, and more research is necessary to understand how these different types of dialysis could influence African American ESRD patients' HRQOL. Racial disparities exist regarding treatments for ESRD. African Americans continued to be disadvantaged in terms pre-ESRD care as compared to Whites (31% vs. 38%), and they were also less probable to have visited any nephrologist in the last 12 months prior to the commencement of dialysis (24% vs. 30%) in the year 2015 (Norris et al., 2017). The statistical adjustment concluded that with the inclusion of insurance coverage and region of care, African Americans were 34% less likely than Whites to have nephology care than no care at all (Norris et al., 2017). Most African Americans' choice of modality is hemodialysis; this is due to various possible factors such as socioeconomic status and health insurance barriers (Norris et al., 2017; Shen et al., 2020), which might not actually be cost-effective, given the related machinery and supplies required. As racial disparities continue to appear in ESRD treatment statistics, a specific focus on African American patients is necessary to see how the different modalities of dialysis influence their HRQOL.

Patient experience has been the focus of studies in recent years. During the past decade, more focus has been given to patient experience as a valuable health care aspect (Dad et al., 2020). Instruments have been developed to measure patients' experience of care to assess health care quality (Rhee et al., 2017). Studies have also been conducted to explore patient experiences with dialysis. It was found that the psychosocial needs of patients are more effectively met in a dialysis treatment using a patient-centered model (Nagpal et al., 2017). In another study, Seshasai et al. (2019) focused specifically on home hemodialysis (HHD) and found that independence, support, technical aspects, home environment, and attitude and expectations were vital factors that determined the

experiences of patients. While patients identified several challenges related to HHD, they all preferred it over in-center hemodialysis. The patient-centeredness of HHD appeared to make it more comfortable and convenient for patients, leading to more positive experiences with hemodialysis (Seshasai et al., 2019). The findings of both studies supported the value of patient-centeredness as a factor for positive patient experience in hemodialysis. It implies that the type of dialysis treatment may impact HRQOL through patient experiences.

### **Demographics and ESRD**

Race, gender, and family history have been found to be risk factors of CKD. For example, an African American person above the age of 65 years with low birth weight and a family history of hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and kidney disease is a good candidate for the exposure to kidney disease and, subsequently, dialysis treatment (Kazancioğlu, 2013). In addition, kidney disease is more prevalent among African Americans than other populations, with a higher probability of requiring hemodialysis as a permanent treatment for ESRD (Garcia-Garcia et al., 2017; Laster et al., 2018; Norris et al., 2017). In general, the risk factors related to kidney disease are the highest among African Americans, American Indians, and Hispanics compared to Caucasians (Nee et al., 2017). More than 35% of the patients who receive the dialysis treatment for kidney failure are African American, even though they only constitute 13.2% of the U.S. population (National Kidney Foundation [NKF], 2016). Therefore, African Americans are three times likelier than their non-Hispanic or White counterparts to be constrained for RRT (Laster et al., 2018). This disadvantaged population warrants further attention in terms of how they experience ESRD treatment and how it affects their HRQOL.

#### **Socioeconomic Status and Employment**

Renal disease may also be related to poverty. While existing literature regarding the relationship between poverty and kidney outcomes is inconsistent, poverty is generally related to reduced access to health care, poorer health literacy, and increased stress, which could impact health outcomes (Norton & Eggers, 2020). Norton and Eggers concluded that poverty interacts with other factors including biological, clinical, and social factors, increasing the risk for kidney diseases for the affected populations. In a study conducted by Lipworth et al. (2012), the San Francisco Community Heath Network represented by the urban poor population, provided the data on adults with non-dialysisdependent CKD. Out of this group, 73% represented individuals who had an annual income of less than \$15,000. After comparing and modifying the socioeconomic values and risks, Blacks were reported to have a higher risk of advancing to ESRD than Whites (Lipworth et al., 2012). Interestingly, the findings of a meta-analysis by Vart et al. (2017) showed that Whites with low socio-economic status had significantly higher risk of CKD than African Americans with low socio-economic status. This finding was surprising, considering that African Americans had a higher risk for CKD when socio-economic factors were controlled (Vart et al., 2017). The role of poverty in relation to race may be more complex in terms of how it affects CKD development, hence the need for further investigation on how demographic factors influence ESRD treatment and HRQOL.

#### **African American Population and Dialysis**

Diabetes and hypertension are the primary risk factors for the development of ESRD (Lee et al., 2019). These factors, coupled with obesity and overweight, can trigger comorbid disorders (Lee et al., 2019). Compared with Whites, African Americans are more prone to obesity or overweight (76.3% vs. 68.5%), diabetes (18% vs. 9.6%), and hypertension (43.3% vs 29.1%), subsequently increasing their risk for diabetes and hypertension, and in turn, ESRD (Laster et al., 2018). These disparities warrant further investigation of the HRQOL of African Americans in relation to ESRD.

Ironically, the cases of death risk in dialysis patients are lower for older Black patients compared with White patients (Nee et al., 2017). Age disparities have been indicated by researchers showing how Black adults aged 50 years and older had the lowest death rates, while younger Black adults aged 18 to 30 years had higher death rates than Whites. It was then argued that the racial disparity in death rates could be attributed to socio-economic or cultural factors, such as increased risks of homicide or suicide, more than biological ones (Nee et al., 2017). The paradoxically higher survival rates of older Black dialysis patients call for further investigation on how their treatments as well as demographic factors influence their HRQOL.

Aside from dialysis treatments, African American ESRD patients may also be affected by racial factors in transplant decisions. Race-related issues regarding kidney transplantation have historically placed African Americans at a disadvantageous position (Crenesse-Cozien et al., 2019). Scholars have noted that the timing of the referral to nephrologists and the replacements for individuals on the waiting list can be attributed to the biases of physicians regarding the survival for ethnic patients undergoing transplant surgery. For this reason, the NKF (2016) instituted a strategy to increase the knowledge regarding early referral to nephrologists, which should lead to prior referral for transplantation, as late referrals diminish the probability of preventative kidney transplant, leading to dialysis. Health care providers, however, continue to show bias, as some may attribute health care outcomes to stereotypes such as African Americans' "laziness" (Lipford et al., 2018, p. 9). These biases caused African Americans to prefer the in-center hemodialysis (ICHD) treatment.

A host of components control the ESRD-related consequences for the African American population undergoing dialysis. A major contributor is the ethnic/racial dissimilarities in the infection, in addition to their nutritional status (Nicholas et al., 2013). The biological disadvantages of African Americans must not be ignored, as these also contribute to the development of kidney disease (Norris et al., 2017). The numerous factors related to the health outcomes of African Americans necessitate the development of holistic intervention strategies to lower the prevalence of CKD and ESRD in this population. Therefore, awareness of the possible preventive options needs to be increased among the African American population.

#### Summary

In this review of literature, I identified the recurring themes related to CKD. Information was also gathered as to the preferred CKD treatment of different populations based on factors such as culture, economic status, affordability, and predialysis education. The literature consistently showed racial disparities in health care for CKD and ESRD patients, revealing how racial minorities may have different experiences of treatment than their Caucasian counterparts. Previous findings revealed the gap in current knowledge regarding the influence of social factors on ESRD patients and dialysis and the need for further quantitative inquiry (Nagpal et al., 2017; Roberti et al., 2018; Sciberras & Scerri, 2017).

The ecological model that guided the current study was found to be highly relevant in the 21st century as racial disparities continue to exist in health care (Wesner et al., 2020). Studies on diabetes as well as CKD showed how each system within the model was relevant to health behaviors and health outcomes, especially to racial minority groups (Goff et al., 2019; Nonterah & Gardiner, 2019; Norton & Eggers, 2020; Whipple et al., 2019). Demographic factors represent the social and cultural aspects within the ecological model—and, as such, require deeper understanding in terms of their relation to ESRD treatment.

The increase in the prevalence of ESRD has made it a grave public health concern globally. As highlighted in the research, one of the major factors contributing to ESRD and, consequently, the need for dialysis is diabetes (González-Pérez et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2017). African Americans are particularly disadvantaged in the development of diabetes, showing a need for better diabetes education in this population (ADA, 2013; Cabacungan et al., 2020). Race-related barriers were also identified in dialysis treatment (Norris et al., 2017). Patients with CKD or ESRD reportedly felt uninformed regarding their disease and treatments, thereby negatively affecting their HRQOL upon treatment (Saeed et al., 2019). The interplay of these factors, including dialysis treatment and demographic factors, are thus worth investigating to provide more solid empirical evidence that would aid in the understanding of African American patients' experience of ESRD treatment, and how to best help them. In the next chapter, I describe the methodology that was used in this study, primarily focusing on the data collection methods and data analysis procedures.

#### Chapter 3: Research Method

The prevalence of ESRD has been highlighted as a grave public health concern. The purpose of the current quantitative cross-sectional study was to examine the effects of length of time for treatment (how long patients have been receiving treatment) and type of dialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. In this chapter, I present the research design and rationale of the study, along with the population, instrumentation, and variables. Additionally, the research methodology procedures are highlighted, including the data collection process and the sampling methods. The description of the data analysis includes the software programs that were used. Moreover, methods for achieving validity and reliability in the study are examined. Finally, the ethical considerations are provided. The chapter ends with a summary of the methodology.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

The current study was quantitative in nature. Quantitative research is relational and empirical in nature (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). Quantitative research focuses on specific variables and the relationships between them (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). Because of this focus on variables, this type of research is theory driven and closed ended in nature (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). Using closed-ended questions, quantitative researchers can gather and analyze data from large sample sizes with relative efficiency (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). These large sample sizes make quantitative inquiry more deeply empirical compared to qualitative inquiry, affording significant statistical power and generality to the outcomes (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). The price of this greater empiricism is that quantitative research cannot be exploratory and must rely on existing theory to determine the hypothetical relationships to be tested (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). Quantitative methodology was appropriate for the current study because I aimed to address the relationships between key variables, including the predictors of demographic factors and the type of HD a patient is undergoing. Furthermore, the study rested on strong theoretical foundations, and research using larger sample sizes was needed with respect to this topic (see Nagpal et al., 2017; Sciberras & Scerri, 2017).

In contrast, qualitative inquiry is exploratory and descriptive (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Qualitative researchers do not focus on variables or their relationships, but rather on the subjective, human experience of the phenomenon (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Qualitative inquiry is appropriate for exploring new theoretical content through open-ended questioning that addresses the full range of responses in a population (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). The tradeoff for this approach, however, is that copious qualitative data cannot be effectively collected from large sample sizes and is too heterogeneous to be analyzed statistically. Hence, qualitative research was a poor fit for the current study. The focus of this study was not directed at a phenomenon or broader subjective experiences, but rather at how key variables relate. Moreover, existing qualitative research on similar topics had been substantial (Nagpal et al., 2017; Roberti et al., 2018; Sciberras & Scerri, 2017); therefore, there was no need for a new qualitative exploration.

Quantitative research can be experimental, quasi-experimental, or nonexperimental. Of the three types, experimental research is the strongest. Experimental studies can show causation in terms of variables' interrelationships (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). This power, however, comes at the expense of experimental research requiring stringent conditions to be carried out, including the control of variables, manipulation of variables, and randomization of the participants into groups (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). None of these conditions were feasible for the current study, which addressed immutable factors such as demographics. Quasi-experimental research produces stronger results, but still requires control and manipulation (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). Only nonexperimental research was feasible for the current study. Nonexperimental research can only show correlational relationships, but it can be conducted using real-world data (Johnson, 2001). Furthermore, the results of nonexperimental research reflect functional relationships that can be observed in reality.

The research design for the current study was the cross-sectional design. An appropriate choice of research design is necessary to achieve credible outcomes by eliminating potential bias, facilitating accurate assessment of research variables, and accounting for potential marginal errors (Zangirolami-Raimundo et al., 2018). There are different types of quantitative designs selected to suit different types of studies based on the nature of data sources and participants; these designs include descriptive, quasi-experimental, and cross-sectional research designs. A cross-sectional design was adopted in the current study over quasi-experimental and descriptive analysis to guide me in conducting this research. A quantitative cross-sectional survey design was considered appropriate in collecting required data to answer research questions and test the research hypotheses.

#### Methodology

### **Population**

In the current study, secondary data were obtained from the CRIC study. Data from 2016 to 2021 were obtained from the database. The CRIC was conducted from 2003 to 2022 and consisted of 5,112 participants recruited from seven trial centers in the United States. A sample size of 3,200 was found suitable for the current study.

### Sampling and Sampling Procedure

The population in the current study included African American dialysis patients age 21 to 74 years. This age range was selected because it delimited the population to adults within the range of typical adulthood, a period over which default HRQOL should remain somewhat similar, and because it aligned with the data set in the CRIC study. To obtain the study sample, I used purposive sampling to recruit participants who met inclusion criteria (see Ragab & Arisha, 2018). The purposive sampling method was relevant in selecting participants with information that was required to answer the research questions. The inclusion criteria ensured that only those who had the right data and information were enlisted in the sample (see Nguyen et al., 2021).

Power analysis was used to arrive at the sample size of 3,200. A priori power analysis determined this study's sample size of 3,200 through the use of G\* Power Version 3.1.9.2. The sample size computation was based on factors such as type of statistical analysis, Cohen's effect size, level of significance, and the statistical power or the probability of rejecting a false null hypothesis. For this study, the statistical analysis that was conducted was a z test of logistic regression considering a standard normal

distribution to determine the relationship between the encompassed variables. A priori power analysis was conducted with the following factors: (a) statistical test of logistic regression, (b) one-tailed test, (c), odds ratio of 1.50, (d) medium effect size of 0.20 for a logistic regression analysis, (e) level of significance of 0.05, and (f) statistical power of 0.80, which is normally used in quantitative studies. The effect size is the measure of the strength of the relationship between independent and dependent variables (Cohen, 1988). Effect size is normally categorized into small, medium, and large. The medium effect size is commonly used for quantitative studies because it strikes balance between being too strict and too lenient in estimating the degree of relationship between the variables. For the purpose of the current study, a medium effect size was employed to ensure that the analysis was not too strict or too lenient in identifying significant relationships. The significance level involves the confidence that the statistical result is true. For the current study, a 5% significance level was employed. The power of the analysis was set at 80% because this is the standard considered in most research studies. The a priori power analysis computation yielded a sample size of 3,200.

As age increases, base HRQOL tends to decrease regardless of dialysis (Winkelmayer et al., 2011). By focusing on relatively younger patients undergoing hemodialysis, I examined the population that requires improvements in their HRQOL. To be included in the study, the participants needed to be undergoing dialysis treatment for at least 1 year and meet the established demographic and age criteria.

In the original study, the participants were recruited using an age-stratified approach to ensure that all age groups 21–74 years were adequately represented. The

scope of this study excluded participants with polycystic kidney disease or those who were on active immunosuppression for glomerulonephritis. Overall, renal insufficiency was defined in terms of a 25 ml/min per 1.73 m2 decline in glomerular filtration rate from baseline or the necessity of renal replacement therapy. About half of the sample had diabetes mellitus. Not all participants in the CRICS were at the ESRD stage and on dialysis. Because the current study was concerned with ESRD and not kidney disease more generally, only participants with ESRD were included. Data from participants with less severe CKD were excluded.

To ensure statistical validity, a minimum number of samples is necessary. G\*Power v3.1.0 was used to determine the minimum number of samples for the study. A priori power analysis involves a number of factors to consider, such as the power of analysis, significance level, effect size, and type of analysis. For the purpose of the current study, 80% power, a medium effect size of 0.15, and a significance level of .05 were considered. This study included five predictor variables and a multiple linear regression analysis (see Faul et al., 2007). Based on the G\*Power calculation, a minimum sample of 92 participants was necessary to ensure 80% statistical power. All participants in the CRIC study were required to have disease; therefore, it was possible that the subsample of participants who were African Americans with ESRD would exceed 92. The subsampling approach was to review the data set and include all members of the CRIC study data set who reported their race as African American and whose renal disease has reached the end stage.

#### **Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection**

Obtaining data for the study involved retrieving data from the CRIC study, a prospective cohort study of renal disease run from 2003 to the present. The CRIC is a multisite study in which participants were recruited from a number of sites across the United States. The study was conducted in multiple waves, allowing the researchers to track the participants' progress and renal disease progression over time. The researchers enrolled those with any stage of kidney disease, not only ESRD, but many patients progressed to ESRD and required dialysis over the course of the study. In this study, data from the most recent wave were drawn.

The first step of the current study was to request formal access to the data from the CRIC study. After preliminary data authorization was obtained, the study proposal was submitted for institutional review board (IRB) review through the university. At this stage, any changes necessary to secure IRB approval were made. After IRB approval was achieved, official data use authorization was requested from the CRIC data repository (see Appendix A).

Once IRB authorization was obtained and permission to use the data was granted, the CRIC study data were accessed through the Scientific and Data Coordinating Center at Penn, which manages the CRIC data. The data were transformed from the format provided in into a format that could be loaded in Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) statistical analysis software. The CRIC data set contains many more measures than were relevant to the current study. The specific portions of the data that were retrieved for use in this study are listed in the following section.

### **Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs**

All data analyzed in the current study were drawn from the CRIC data set. Measures corresponded to the data measures found in the original CRIC study, but only a relevant subset of CRIC data were retrieved. Table 1 includes coding categories for variables.

# Table 1

Variable	Coding
Gender	0 = male
	1 = female'
Family history	0 = no
	1 = yes
Employment status	0 = unemployed
	1 = employed

Categorical Variable Coding

# **Demographics**

Demographic data were retrieved in alignment with the study's theoretical framework, including the factors of age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation. These demographics were each represented as a single item with a binary, categorical, or continuous response. In alignment with RQ1, the following demographic variables were included.

### Age

Age referred to the participant's age at time of data collection, measured using the field AGE as a continuous variable.

# Gender

The participants' gender was measured using the field GENDER as a categorical variable.

### Family History

Each participant's family history of ESRD was collected. A binary variable was taken as true if any of MED55\_1, MED55\_2, MED55\_3, or MED55\_4 were true.

### Length of Time for Treatment

This variable described the length of time for which the participant had received treatment for dialysis. This variable was calculated as a continuous variable from the item MED12, which reflected when the participant sought dialysis treatment.

#### **Dialysis**

Additionally, the type of dialysis that a participant used was retrieved from the CRIC data set. These data were recorded as a categorical variable with categories of no dialysis, satellite hemodialysis, standard dialysis, or other.

### **Quality of Life**

The key dependent variable, participants' health-related quality of life, was assessed using an existing, validated instrument, the Kidney Disease Quality of Life Questionnaire (KDQoL; Hays et al., 1994; see Appendix C). In particular, to assess the effect of ESRD, the Specific Burden of Kidney Disease Subscale was utilized. This was operationalized as the KDQoL\_BURDEN variable in the CRICS study, comprising four items: KDQ12 a: My kidney disease interferes too much with my life, (b) Too much of my time is spent dealing with my kidney disease, (c) I feel frustrated dealing with my kidney disease, and (d): I feel like a burden on my family. The overall KDQoL

instrument measures health-related quality of life in renal disease patients using 36 items and has been validated and determined to have acceptable reliability scores (Korevaar et al., 2002). The specific subscale has also been validated for individual usage as is used in this study, given that the KDQoL does not have an overall index value (Hays et al., 1997). The KDQoL\_BURDEN scores are on a scale of 0–100 translated from a 5-point Likert scale.

### **Data Analysis Plan**

I carried out all data analyses out using SPSS statistical analysis software (IBM SPSS 29). The descriptive analysis was used to characterize the sample and the variables. It included the calculation of means, medians, ranges, and other statistical properties. Some of the data were graphed against demographics to indicate their distribution within the sample. To recall, the research questions to be answered were as follows:

RQ1: Is there a significant relationship between demographic variables (i.e., age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African Americans ESRD patients

RQ2: Is there a significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients?

RQ3: Do the variables of length of time for treatment on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation, moderate the relationships between dialysis and kidney disease and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients?

To answer RQ1 and RQ2, an initial multiple linear regression model was developed. First, the assumptions of multiple regression were tested. These include the normality of the dependent variables and the homoscedasticity of the data (Nathans et al., 2012). If the assumptions could not be validated, appropriate transforms would have been attempted and, failing those, nonparametric regression would have been used instead. Then, a regression model with the demographic variables of age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation as predictors and health-related quality of life was developed. Provided that the overall multiple R<sup>2</sup> of the regression model is significantly different from 0 and at least one predictor has a statistically significant coefficient of regression, the null hypothesis for RQ1 and RQ2 could have been rejected.

Then, RQ3 was tested, which entailed adding the factors of demographics and type of dialysis to the model developed in RQ1. As before, I verified the assumptions and took appropriate steps if they were not met. I determined whether the overall  $R^2$  of the new model was significantly different from 0 and significantly greater than the multiple  $R^2$  achieved with just the demographics. If the multiple  $R^2$  increased, then the null hypothesis RQ3 would have been rejected the coefficient of regression for type of dialysis is significantly different from 0. In estimation of the sample size, as per the population and sample size section, the minimum necessary sample was expected to be 3,000, well exceeded by the 5,112 participants in the dataset.

#### **Threats to Validity**

In the present study, the data were drawn from the CRICS. The CRICS was conducted using existing, validated instrumentation regarding the key measures, such as quality of life. In addition, the CRICS included a large, nationally representative sample. Therefore, the current study inherited this validity through use of secondary data.

I assured internal validity in this study by the careful alignment of the study. The research problem and corresponding research gap directly led to the study purpose, and the purpose informs the research questions. The research questions, in turn, are used to determine the instrumentation. Insofar as the validity of the instrumentation, all of the instruments outlined above for use in the current study were either intrinsic measurements or existing, validated instruments whose psychometric properties have been analyzed and independently verified (Korevaar et al., 2002). In particular, the CRICS measured quality of life using the KDQoL-36, an existing and validated measure of kidney disease-related quality of life. To ensure appropriate use of these data, the original 11 dimensions of the KDQoL were retained and no attempt was made to combine them into an overall index value. Hence, internal validity and reliability with respect to the research instruments are strong.

External validity refers to how well the results generalize to other populations (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). The primary measure upon which the external validity of the current study rested was the power analysis. Through power analysis, I was able to ensure that the sample size exceeds the minimum necessary for the results to have a meaningful statistical power relative to the larger population. The CRICS data used in this study offered extensive external validity. The CRICS is a multisite study conducted at a large scale, with a resultantly high sample size. Although this sample still may have incurred self-selection bias, the size and breadth of the sample used offers a much greater

likelihood of representativeness than a sample collected by a single researcher directly would allow for. Hence, the use of secondary data greatly enhanced the current study's external validity.

### **Ethical Procedures**

During this study, ethical codes were followed (Arifin, 2018). Obtaining permission is an essential component of any ethical research. I requested and used data from CRICS after written permission to do so had been granted by the office controlling the data at Pennsylvania State University. In addition, I sought IRB approval for the study before attempting to gain access to the secondary data. The final ethical concern for this study was the process of recruiting the participants. In order to avoid HIPAA violation, the potential participants were not approached me personally (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2019). Instead, the data were drawn from a secondary dataset of existing data in which the participants have already agreed to participate. The original CRICs data collection also involved significant effort to ensure ethical compliance. All participation in the study was voluntary, with participants having the option to withdraw.

Although the study's longitudinal nature was such that anonymity was not possible, all data were collected confidentially. In addition, the data were fully anonymized before being offered for use in studies such as this one. The CRICS also requires a more elaborate approval process for some of its more sensitive data, ensuring that only legitimate users can gain access to the data. Once retrieved, the data were stored using a computerized software that was only accessible by myself. A secondary backup was stored in a safe data structure both at my home and offsite.

### **Summary**

In summary, the purpose of the current quantitative cross-sectional study was to examine the effects of length of time for treatment (i.e., how long they have been receiving treatment) and type of dialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. In Chapter 3, I presented and justified the research methods for the study. The research method was quantitative, while the research design was a nonexperimental cohort study. The population included African American dialysis patients who participated in the CRICs, who were between 21 and 74 years of age, and who have been on dialysis treatment for over 1 year. The data were retrieved from the existing CRICs dataset. Data analysis involved multiple linear regression. I adhered to ethical research practices at every stage of the research.

#### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of the current quantitative cross-sectional study was to examine the effects of length of time for treatment on dialysis (i.e., how long patients have been receiving treatment) and type of dialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. I used data from the CRIC study of renal disease, which included key outcome data for renal disease patients such as kidney disease-related QoL data, which is an 11-dimension construct that is measured using the KDQoL-36 instrument (ACHA, 2018). Burden of kidney disease was used to measure kidney disease-related HRQOL. Studies have found that higher levels of kidney disease burden are associated with lower health-related HRQOL and greater impairment in daily activities. For example, a study conducted by Almutary et al. (2013) showed that burden of kidney disease was a significant predictor of HRQOL in patients undergoing HD. The dependent variable in the current study was burden of kidney disease, and the independent variables were the demographic variables, length of time for treatment on dialysis, and type of dialysis.

RQ1: Is there a significant relationship between demographic variables (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African Americans ESRD patients?

 $H_01$ : There is no significant relationship between demographic predictors (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 1: There is a statistically significant relationship between demographic predictors (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

RQ2: Is there a significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients?

 $H_02$ : There is no significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

RQ3: Do the variables of length of time for treatment on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation moderate the relationships between dialysis and health-related kidney disease and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients?

 $H_0$ 3: Variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation do not moderate the relationships between type of dialysis HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 3: Variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

In the current chapter, the data collection procedure is detailed. After that, the results from the data analyses are provided. The results from the descriptive statistics are reported to characterize the sample and the variables. The results from the multiple linear regression analyses conducted to answer the research questions as well as discussions of

tests of assumptions for these analyses are provided. All analyses were performed using IMB SPSS Statistics 26.

### **Data Collection**

In the current study, secondary data from the CRIC study, a prospective cohort study of renal disease run from 2003 to the 2022, were used. I analyzed the data from 2016 to 2021. CRIC is a multisite study in which participants were recruited from a number of sites across the United States. The study was conducted in multiple waves, allowing the researchers to track the participants' progress and renal disease progression over time. The CRIC enrolled those with any stage of kidney disease, not only ESRD, but many patients progressed to ESRD and required dialysis over the course of the study. In the current study, data from the most recent wave were drawn.

The first step of the data collection was to request formal access to the data from the CRIC to use in the current study. After preliminary data authorization was obtained, I submitted the study proposal for IRB review through the university. After IRB approval was achieved, official data use authorization was requested from the CRIC data repository (see Appendix A).

The CRIC dataset contained many more measures than were relevant to the current study. The portions of the data set corresponding to the following variables of interest were retrieved: age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, dialysis, HRQOL, and occupation. Only data from 2016 to 2021 were obtained from the database. The population under study was African American dialysis patients age 21 to 74 years. Only participants who had undergone dialysis treatment for at least 1 year were included.

The scope of this study excluded participants with polycystic kidney disease or those who were on active immunosuppression for glomerulonephritis. Not all participants in the CRIC were at the ESRD stage and on dialysis. Because I was concerned with ESRD and not kidney disease in general, only participants with ESRD were included. Data from participants with less severe CKD were excluded.

#### Results

All data analyses were conducted using SPSS statistical analysis software Version 26. Descriptive statistical analyses were conducted to characterize the sample and the variables. Linear regression analysis was used to examine the hypothesized associations. Before fitting the linear regression model, I checked the model assumptions. These included the normality of the dependent variables and the homoscedasticity of the data (see Nathans et al., 2012). The assumption of normality was evaluated by visually inspecting the normal P-P plots of the residuals from each regression model. In addition, the homoscedasticity assumption was assessed by evaluating the scatter plot of the standardized residuals compared to standardized predicted values from each regression model.

### **Descriptive Statistics**

After excluding missing values, non-Blacks, and those who did not have a diagnosis of ESRD, I reduced the size of the sample from 5,625 to 510. Table 2 reports the results from the frequency analyses for the categorical variables of the study. Among the patients, 52.5% were male, whereas 47.5% were female. Furthermore, 25.5% had a family history of ESRD. Regarding occupation status, 33.5% were employed and 66.5%

were not employed. Lastly, modality of first ESRD for 83.7% was HD, for 12.9% was

PD, and for 3.3% was transplant.

# Table 2

Frequency A	Analysis	for	Categorical	Variables	(N = 1)	510)
	1.0000 / 0.00	,~.	000000000000			

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	268	52.5%
	Female	242	47.5%
Family history	No	380	74.5%
	Yes	130	25.5%
Employment status	Unemployed	339	66.5%
	Employed	171	33.5%
Modality of first	Hemodialysis	427	83.7%
ESRD	Peritoneal dialysis	66	12.9%
	Transplant	17	3.3%

Table 3 reports the descriptive statistics for the continuous variables. The values for length of time on dialysis ranged from 0 to 6 and had a mean of 3.81 (*SD* = 1.69). Furthermore, HRQOL had a mean of 57.69 (*SD* = 31.83), and the age of the patients had a mean of 61.140 (*SD* = 9.97). The skewness and kurtosis values for all these variables were less than  $\pm 1$ , indicating that the distributions of these variables were not highly skewed or too peaked.

### Table 3

Variable Min Max Mean SD Skewness Kurtosis Length of time on dialysis 0.000 6.000 3.810 1.694 -0.438 -0.547 HRQOL 0.000 100.000 57.6961 31.831 -0.160 -1.200 Age 27.000 74.000 61.140 9.966 -0.953 0.448

Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Variables (N = 510)

This sample size of N = 510 exceeded the minimum required sample size of 92 as determined by a priori power analysis. There was no issue concerning the number of patients included in the analysis. The following research questions and hypotheses were evaluated based on this sample.

### **Research Question 1**

The first research question asked whether there was a significant relationship between demographic variables and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. The null hypothesis corresponding to this question was there is no significant relationship between demographic predictors (age, gender, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. A multiple regression analysis was conducted to answer this question. In this analysis, the dependent variable was HRQOL, and the independent variables were the demographic variables of age, gender, and occupation status. Before calculating the results from this analysis, I conducted tests of assumptions underlying this parametric procedure. First, the normality assumption of residuals was assessed. As depicted in Figure 1, an evaluation of the normal P-P plot of the standardized residuals indicated that the observations did not fall substantially far away from the normality line. From this plot, no substantial deviation from the normality assumption of the residuals was identified.

# Figure 1

Assessment of the Normality Assumption for the Regression of HRQOL on the

Demographic Variables



In addition, I assessed the homoscedasticity of the residuals assumption using the scatter plot of the standardized residuals against the standardized predicted values from the regression model (see Figure 2). This plot exhibited a slight downward pattern in the observations; however, this pattern did not seem to be substantial to indicate deviation from the homoscedasticity assumption.

# Figure 2

# Assessment of the Homoscedasticity Assumption for the Regression of HRQOL on the

Demographic Variables



The third assumption to check was a lack of multicollinearity. This assumption was evaluated using variance inflation factor (VIF) values for each predictor variable included in the model. As shown in Table 4, all VIF values for the predictor variables were well below 10, indicating there was no multicollinearity problem among these variables.

# Table 4

Assessment of Multicollinearity Among Age, Gender, Family History, and Employment

Status

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Age	.923	1.084
Gender	.996	1.004
Family history	.998	1.002
Employment status	.918	1.089

No substantial departures from the assumptions underlying the regression model were identified. Therefore, this model was performed to assess the relationship between the demographic variables and HRQOL. The results showed that this model did not provide a significant fit to the data, F(5,505) = 1.208, p = .307,  $R^2 = .009$ . Table 5 reports the parameter estimates for this regression model. The only significant predictor of HRQOL was employment status. Given that the overall  $R^2$  of the regression model was not significantly different from 0, the null hypothesis that there is no significant relationship between demographic predictors (age, gender, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients was not rejected.

### Table 5

Variable	Unstar coef	ndardized ficients	Standardized coefficients	t	<i>p</i> value
	В	Std. Error	Beta		
Age	.104	.147	.033	.705	.481
Gender	2.645	2.827	.042	.936	.350
Family history	-1.242	3.235	017	384	.701
Employment status	6.190	3.113	.092	1.988	.047

Parameter Estimates for the Regression of HRQOL on the Demographic Variables

I performed a Pearson correlation analysis to examine whether age and HRQOL were significantly correlated. The results from this test showed that the correlation between the two variables was nonsignificant (r(508) = .006, p = .885). Furthermore, multiple independent samples *t*-tests were also conducted to assess whether there were significant differences in HRQOL by each of the dichotomous demographic variables of gender, family history, and occupation status. I identified no significant differences by these demographic variables (p > .05). These results showed that the difference in the mean HRQOL between those who had a family history of ESRD (M = 56.635, SD =32.075) and those who did not (M = 58.059, SD = 31.782) was nonsignificant (t(508) =0.440, p = .660). Moreover, the difference between males (M = 56.623, SD = 31.372) and females (M = 58.884, SD = 32.356) was nonsignificant (t(508) = .424, p = .399). Lastly, no significant difference was identified between those who were employed (M = 61.330, SD = 32.540) and those who were not (M = 55.863, SD = 31.356, t(508) = -1.836, p =.067).
### **Research Question 2**

The second research question asked whether there was a significant relationship between the length of time on dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. The null hypothesis developed based on this question was that there is no significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. I conducted a multiple regression analysis to address this question. In this analysis, the dependent variable was health-related HRQOL, the independent variable was length of time for treatment, and the control variables were the demographic variables of age, gender, and occupation status. Before reporting the results from this analysis, a discussion of tests of assumptions underlying this parametric procedure are detailed.

The first assumption to evaluate was the normality of the residuals from this regression model. This assumption was assessed using the normal P-P plot of the residuals (see Figure 4). An inspection of this plot revealed that the data point typically did not fall greatly far away from the normality line in the P-P plot. Thus, this plot did not indicate a substantial deviation from the normality assumption of the residuals.

# Figure 3

Assessment of the Normality Assumption for the Regression of HRQOL on Length of Time on Dialysis and the Demographic Variables

Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual Dependent Variable: KDQOL: Burden of Kidney Disease

The second assumption to assess was the homoscedasticity of the residuals. I evaluated this assumption by assessing the scatter plot of the standardized residuals against the standardized predicted values from the regression model (see Figure 5). From this plot, I determined that there was a slight downward pattern in the data points; however, this pattern did not seem to indicate deviation from the homoscedasticity assumption.

# Figure 4

Assessment of the Homoscedasticity Assumption for the Regression of HRQOL on Length of Time on Dialysis and the Demographic Variables



Lastly, I evaluated the absence of multicollinearity assumption using VIF values for each predictor variable included in the model. As reported in Table 6, all VIF values for the predictor variables were well below 10. Hence, this assumption was considered valid.

## Table 6

Assessment of Multicollinearity Among Length of Time on Dialysis and the Demographic

Variables

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Age	.922	1.085
Gender	.995	1.005
Length of time on dialysis	.977	1.024
Family history	.993	1.007
Employment status	.901	1.110

As detailed above, no substantial departures from the assumptions underlying the regression model were identified. Hence, I performed this model to assess Research Question 2. The results showed that this model did not provide a significant fit to the data  $(F(5,504) = .991, p = .423, R^2 = .010)$ . Furthermore, the results revealed that while controlling for other demographic variables included in the model, length of time on dialysis was not a significant predictor of HRQOL (B = -0.305, t(504) = -0.362, p = .718). Thus, these results did not provide support to reject the null hypothesis that there is no significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

## **Research Question 3**

The third research question was formulated to determine whether the variables of length of time for treatment on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation, moderated the relationships between dialysis and kidney disease HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. The null hypothesis developed based on this question was that the variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation, do not moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

A moderation analysis was performed to address this question. This procedure involved two steps: First, a regression analysis was performed to assess the relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL. After that, a second regression analysis was conducted by including the interaction terms between each of the demographic variables and the dummy variables for the hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis groups. The results from these regression analyses, as well as assessments of the assumptions, are provided in the following subsections.

### First Regression Model

In the first regression, model the dependent variable was HRQOL, and the predictor variables were the dummy variables for the hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis groups. Before reporting the results from this analysis, a discussion of tests of assumptions underlying this parametric procedure are detailed.

The first assumption of this regression model to evaluate was the normality of the residuals. An assessment of the P-P plot of the standardized residuals from this regression model shows that the data points generally fell close to the normality line (see Figure 6). Thus, this plot provided support that there was no substantial deviation from the normality assumption.

# Figure 5

Assessment of the Normality Assumption for the Regression of HRQOL on Type of

## Dialysis



The second assumption of this regression model to check was the

homoscedasticity of the residuals. As seen in Figure 7, the dispersion of the residuals did not seem to greatly differ across the predicted values. I concluded from this plot that there was no substantial deviation from the homoscedasticity of the residuals assumption.

# Figure 6

Assessment of the Homoscedasticity Assumption for the Regression of HRQOL on Type of

Dialysis



In addition, I assessed the lack of multicollinearity assumption using VIF values for the predictor variable included in the model. As displayed in Table 7, all VIF values for the predictor variables were below 10, suggesting that there were no deviations from this assumption.

### Table 7

Assessment of Multicollinearity Among the Dummy Variables Representing the

Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis Groups

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
ESRD1	.235	4.251
ESRD2	.235	4.251

As discussed above, there were no substantial departures from the assumptions underlying the regression model. Therefore, I performed this model to assess the relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL. The results showed that this model did not provide a significant fit to the data (F(2,507) = 2.881, p = .057,  $R^2 = .011$ ). An assessment of the parameter estimates for this model shows that none of the predictor variables contributed significantly to the model (see Table 8).

## Table 8

Variable	Unstandardized coefficients		Standardized coefficients	t	p value
	В	Std. Error	Beta		
ESRD1	-11.059	7.843	128	-1.410	.159
ESRD2	-2.507	8.626	026	291	.771

Parameter Estimates for the Regression of HRQOL on Type of Dialysis

*Note*. ESRD1 and ESRD2 are dummy variables representing the hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis groups, respectively.

#### Second Regression Model

In the second regression model, the dependent variable was HRQOL and the predictor variables were the demographic variables, the dummy variables for the hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis groups, and the interactions between these variables. Before reporting the results from this analysis, a discussion of tests of assumptions underlying this parametric procedure are detailed.

The first assumption to assess was the normality of the residuals from this regression model. As can be seen from the normal P-P plot of the residuals depicted in Figure 8, the data points do not seem to fall greatly far away from the normality line.

Thus, this plot did not indicate a substantial deviation from the normality assumption of the residuals.

## Figure 7

Assessment of the Normality Assumption for the Regression of HRQOL on Type of

Dialysis and Demographic Variables and the Interactions Between These Variables



The second assumption to evaluate was the homoscedasticity of residuals from the regression model. I assessed this assumption through a visual examination of the scatter plot of the standardized residuals against standardized predicted values from the regression equation (see Figure 9). This plot shows that there was a slight downward pattern in the observation. This pattern, however, did not seem to be substantial to indicate great deviation from the homoscedasticity assumption.

# Figure 8

Assessment of the Homoscedasticity Assumption for the Regression of HRQOL on Type of Dialysis and Demographic Variables and the Interactions Between These Variables



Furthermore, I assessed the absence of multicollinearity assumption using VIF values for each predictor variable included in the model. As shown in Table 9, all VIF values for the predictor variables were below 10, providing support that this assumption was met.

### Table 9

Assessment of Multicollinearity Among the Dummy Variables Representing Type of

VIF Variable Tolerance ESRD1 .226 4.433 ESRD2 .232 4.308 .894 1.119 Age .989 Family history 1.011 Length of time on dialysis .965 1.036 Gender 1.006 .994 .881 1.135 Employment status

Dialysis, Length of Time on Dialysis, and the Demographic Variables

As discussed above, no substantial departures from the assumptions underlying the regression model were detected. Therefore, this regression equation was conducted to assess the relationship between the predictor variables of demographic variables, type of dialysis, and the interactions between these variables and the outcome variable of HRQOL.

The results was revealed that this model did not provide a significant fit to the data (F(17,492) = .915, p = .556,  $R^2 = .031$ ). Furthermore, after an assessment of the parameter estimates for this regression model, I found that none of the interaction terms between the demographic variables and the dummy variables for the hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis groups were statistically significant. It is possible to conclude from these results that the demographic variables did not moderate the relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL. Hence, these results did not provide evidence to reject the null hypothesis that the variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family

history, and occupation do not moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and

HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

# Table 10

Parameter Estimates for the Regression of HRQOL on Type of Dialysis and

	Unstandardized		Standardized		
Variable	coefficients		coefficients	t	p value
	В	Std. Error	Beta		
ESRD1	2.150	93.868	.025	.023	.982
ESRD2	14.756	97.808	.156	.151	.880
Age	.830	1.289	.260	.644	.520
Family history	15.849	24.514	.217	.647	.518
Length of time on dialysis	-3.693	6.625	197	557	.577
Gender	-3.945	15.579	062	253	.800
Employed	8.240	32.675	.122	.252	.801
ESRD1*Age	657	1.300	506	505	.614
ESRD1*Family history	-15.336	24.767	199	619	.536
ESRD1* Length of time	2 0 2 1	6.686	.192	.437	.662
on dialysis	2.921				
ESRD1*Gender	6.645	15.883	.149	.418	.676
ESRD1*Employed	-1.835	32.864	025	056	.956
ESRD2*Age	901	1.346	557	670	.503
ESRD2*Family history	-29.411	26.157	166	-1.124	.261
ESRD2*Time	6.256	7.130	.292	.878	.381
ESRD2*Gender	7.810	17.540	.127	.445	.656
ESRD2*Employed	-5.967	33.673	049	177	.859

Demographic Variables and the Interactions Between These Variables

*Note*. ESRD1 and ESRD2 are dummy variables representing the hemodialysis and

peritoneal dialysis groups, respectively.

# Summary

Through this quantitative study, I aimed to examine the effects and different types of hemodialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. In conducting this study, I made use of the secondary data from the CRIC study. Data from a total of 510 patients were collected from the CRIC study for the data analysis. Three research questions and their corresponding null and alternative hypotheses guided this study. Multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to evaluate the research hypotheses. Based on these results, none of the null hypotheses for the three research questions were rejected. The results from the regression of HRQOL on the demographic variables indicated that this model did not provide a significant fit to the data. Furthermore, I also found that type of dialysis did not significantly predict HRQOL. In addition, the results from the regression of HRQOL on the demographic variables, type of dialysis, and the interaction between these variables revealed that this model was not statistically significant, and none of the predictor variables included in the model were statistically significantly associated with the outcome variable. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of the current quantitative cross-sectional study was to examine the effects of length of time for treatment (how long patients have been receiving treatment) and type of dialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. I used data from the CRIC study of renal disease, which collects and reports key outcome data for renal disease patients such as kidney disease-related HRQOL data. The following research questions and their corresponding null and alternative hypotheses guided this study:

RQ1: Is there a significant relationship between demographic variables (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African Americans ESRD patients?

 $H_01$ : There is no significant relationship between demographic predictors (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 1: There is a statistically significant relationship between demographic predictors (age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

RQ2: Is there a significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients?

 $H_02$ : There is no significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

RQ3: Do the variables of length of time for treatment on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation moderate the relationships between dialysis and health-related kidney disease and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients?

 $H_0$ 3: Variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation do not moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

 $H_a$ 3: Variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

This study was conducted to generate new insights that could be helpful in the mobilization and management of families and others who have been impacted by ESRD to improve HRQOL outcomes. Multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to evaluate the research hypotheses. Based on these results, none of the null hypotheses for the three research questions were rejected. The results from the regression of HRQOL on the demographic variables indicated that this model did not provide a significant fit to the data. Further analysis revealed that employment status was the only demographic variable in the model that predicted HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. The findings also indicated that type of dialysis (i.e., length of time) did not significantly predict HRQOL. In addition, the results from the regression of HRQOL on the demographic variables, type of dialysis, and the interaction between these variables revealed that this

model was not statistically significant, and none of the predictor variables included in the model significantly contributed to the variations in the outcome variable. In this chapter, I provide an in-depth discussion of the results. The discussion includes the following sections: (a) interpretation of the findings, (b) limitations of the study, (c) recommendations, and (d) implications. The chapter ends with a conclusion that summarizes key insights about the research findings.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings**

In this section, the findings are interpreted by comparing the results to the current literature, indicating whether the findings confirm, disconfirm, or extend knowledge in the discipline. The findings are also interpreted by the theoretical framework, which was the ecological model. This discussion is presented based on the three research findings.

# Finding 1

The first finding of the study was that demographic predictors such as age, gender, length of time for treatment, and family history, and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients are not statistically related to each other. This was suggestive of demographic factors not having any relationship to a particular HRQOL among African American ESRD patients. Any HRQOL outcome that African American ESRD patients experience cannot be attributed or linked to these demographic factors. Overall, the model was not a good predictor of HRQOL among African American ESRD patients.

The lack of general significance of demographic factors such as age and gender in this study is not consistent with previous research. For instance, women have been found to have a higher level of anxiety and a lower level of positive attitudes compared to men (Gerogianni et al., 2014). CKD has also been found to be more prevalent among women (16%) compared to men (13%; CDC, 2017a). In terms of age, one study showed that older people may experience more challenges dealing with treatment for renal diseases (Sahaf et al., 2017). These differences suggest possible connection with HRQOL (Hays et al., 1007). None of these studies coincide with the current findings, which could be explained by the possibility that among African Americans these demographic factors may not be predictive.

Further analysis of the individual variables in the model revealed that employment status was the only demographic variable that predicted HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. The literature on the role of employment or occupation in the HRQOL of people suggested that being unemployed can negatively affect HRQOL (BayinDonar & Top., 2020; Norton & Eggers, 2020). Poverty has been associated with poor health outcomes because of poor access to health care resources and poor healthrelated literacy (Norton & Eggers, 2020). Therefore, this particular finding supports the literature regarding the role of employment status in HRQOL of individuals.

When interpreted within the context of the ecological model of Hays et al. (1997), the current findings suggest that the social ecology of African American ESRD patients is complex and nuanced. Other than employment status, most demographic factors may not be a sufficient environmental consideration that affects the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. This is generally consistent with previous findings identifying employment as a predive social ecological factor that affects the health outcomes of patients (Chen et al., 2018). Employment status can be combined with other social ecology factors that were not identified in this study to create a more robust model in predicting HRQOL among African American ESRD patients.

## Finding 2

The second finding indicated there is no significant relationship between length of time for treatment and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. This means that exposure to a particular type of dialysis does not relate to a particular HRQOL among African American ESRD patients. Any HRQOL outcome that African American ESRD patients experience cannot be attributed to a particular type of dialysis.

The literature on the importance of treatment among ESRD patients suggested that African Americans may prefer one treatment from another based on what is comfortable and less challenging to adhere to (Crenesse-Cozien et al., 2019; Nicholas et al., 2013). More specifically, length of time in treatment for dialysis has been generally associated with poorer health outcomes (de Brito et al., 2019). This inconsistency with recent research could be explained by the specificity of the current sample, which focused only on African American ESRD patients. Queeley and Campbell (2018), however, found that the different treatment modalities for ESRD are not different from each other in terms of preference. This appears to be more consistent with the current findings in which length of time of treatment was found not to be statistically significant related to the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. The current finding suggests that the length of treatment may not play an integral role in HRQOL of African Americans ESRD patients. When interpreted within the context of the ecological model (see Hays et al., 1997), the current findings suggest that length of treatment is not a predictor of the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. Social ecology recognizes the complexity of systems in influencing chronic illness (Nagel et al., 2022). Given this complexity, length of treatment alone could not account for the differences in the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

#### Finding 3

The third finding was that length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation did not moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. This finding was expected given that neither of the first two hypotheses were supported by the data. This means that no interaction effect exists between length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation, and between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients.

The literature on the different moderators between the relationship of dialysis and HRQOL has been confined to nondemographic factors such as social support, resilience, or intrinsic religiosity (Cho & Lee, 2019; Reyes et al., 2021; Zaman et al., 2022). Current findings suggest that demographic factors do not moderate the relationship between dialysis treatment and the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

When interpreted within the context of the Hays et al. (1997) ecological model, this finding suggests that length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation are factors within African American ESRD patients' environment that do not play a role in explaining health care outcomes. The ecological model can be used to frame how an individual's social ecology can affect their reaction to a disease (ACHA, 2018). This assumption appears not to be supported in the current study based on the findings.

#### Limitations of the Study

Based on the findings that were reported and the choices made regarding the design of the study, several limitations were identified. These limitations have implications to the validity and reliability of the study. First, the framework that was selected for the study can be considered a general model about the effects of environmental factors on the functioning of individuals. Even though social ecology recognizes the complexity of systems in influencing chronic illness, the model provides limited information about the elements of these complex systems (Nagel et al., 2022). More specifically, the model has not identified the variables that can affect the health of individuals. As a result, the model may not have been an effective basis for justifying and supporting the hypotheses of the study, which could explain why almost none of the hypotheses were supported by the data. Second, the study was based on self-reported data. Because the study relied on self-reported data, the information may not have been fully accurate and may have incorporated some elements of the participants' biases. However, HRQOL is an inherently subjective topic. Therefore, this limitation was not expected to significantly interfere with the quality of the data.

Third, the number of demographic variables in the predictor model was not exhaustive. Although the demographic factors chosen were key and were based on the literature, it is possible that other demographic factors that would significantly impact the model were excluded. Including a comprehensive set of demographics, however, would not have been appropriate given the scope of the study. Finally, a potential limitation of this study was that causal conclusions could not be made about the effect of employment status on the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. The data that were collected and the design that was adopted did not allow for a cause-and-effect relationship to be determined. Instead, the study only provided evidence about the predictive relationship of employment status on the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

#### **Recommendations**

Based on the strengths and limitations of the current study as well as the literature that was reviewed on HRQOL and African American ESRD patients, I developed several recommendations for future research. These recommendations may further expand the literature on the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. My first recommendation is to further delve into the role of employment/occupation status in the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. More specifically, employment can be expanded beyond status to examine different types of employment such as blue-collar and whitecollar jobs. This recommendation was informed by the finding that only employment status was found to significantly predict the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. Further research could extend this finding to provide a deeper understanding of the role of employment in the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

Second, more research is needed to examine the role of treatment in the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. This recommendation was informed by the research

finding indicating the length of treatment time has no statistically significant relationship with the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. Specific areas of research regarding treatment that could be further examined include accessibility, insurance status, and perceived effectiveness. Pursuing these lines of research could be beneficial in terms of discovering other aspects of treatment and their potential relationship with the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

Third, moderating variables that affect the relationship between employment status and the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients need to be further examined. This recommendation was informed by the research finding indicating that length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation do not moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. Pursuing this line of research could be beneficial in terms of having a better understanding of the possible interaction effects that employment status may have that could affect the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

#### Implications

The implication of the research findings to positive social change at the individual level is that the length of dialysis treatment should not be used to predict the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. When considering whether HRQOL could be affected by demographic variables and length of treatment, patients' employment status appears to be the most relevant and significant. At the family level, the positive social change that could be facilitated by this study is the focus on empowering African American ESRD patients by helping them with their employment. At the societal/policy level, more efforts are needed to ensure that employment will not interfere with the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

The methodological implication of the study is that more efforts are needed in order to determine plausible variables that can predict HRQOL among African American ESRD patients. The current variables that were part of the model included age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and employment status. Given that employment status was the only demographic variable that was statistically significant, more relevant variables need to be examined and assembled to create a stronger predictor model. A qualitative research study about the employment status of African American ESRD patients could also provide a more detailed description of its influence on their HRQOL.

The theoretical implication of this research is that the Hays et al. (1997) ecological model may be too general to capture the experiences of African American ESRD patients, particularly in terms of their HRQOL. Only employment status was able to show significant association with the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. Employment has been previously found to be one of the challenges that ESRD patients experience during their treatment (Hallab & Wish, 2018).

Among African American ESRD patients, maintaining employment can be challenging especially among older adults (Robinson et al., 2019). Employment can also be particularly challenging among African Americans who are just beginning their renal disease treatment (Erickson et al., 2018). Given that this demographic variable appears to be specifically significant to the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients, the role of employment in the social ecological environment of African American ESRD patients needs further emphasis.

Based on the research findings of this study, I have created several recommendations for practice. First, medical practitioners should not make decisions regarding the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients based on their gender, age, or length of treatment. It is important, however, to note previous findings that age and gender could play a role in the overall health outcomes of people, including ESRD patients (Gerogianni et al., 2014; Sahaf et al., 2017). Second, given that only employment status was found to significantly predict the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients, health care professionals should be particularly mindful of those who are unemployed and may be needing more assistance in order to improve their overall HRQOL.

#### Conclusion

In this study, I examined the effects and different types of hemodialysis on patient HRQOL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of HRQOL in African American ESRD patients. The results of the study indicated that demographic factors such as age, gender, length of time for treatment, and family history have no significant relationship with the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. Only employment status was found to be significantly associated with the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. None of the demographic variables moderated the relationship between length of treatment and the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients.

The ecological model of Hays et al. (1997) appears to be not a good fit in conceptualizing the HRQOL among African American ESRD patients, which could explain why almost none of the hypotheses were supported by the data. Among the demographic variables that were part of the model, only employment status was found to be significantly associated with the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. Therefore, the ecology model could still be useful when framing the role of employment in the health outcomes of individuals.

Even though many of the hypotheses of the study were not supported by the data, the findings that were generated from this study could still provide beneficial insights to both practitioners and scholars. Health care practitioners may use the findings to inform their decisions when considering the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients. Future researchers should further expand the literature on the HRQOL of African American ESRD patients by further examining the role of employment and the possible moderators or mediators that can affect this relationship.

### References

- Agarwal, R. (2016). Defining end-stage renal disease in clinical trials: A framework for adjudication. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, 31(6), 864–867. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfv289</u>
- Almutary, H., Bonner, A., & Douglas, C. (2013). Symptom burden in chronic kidney disease: A review of recent literature. *Journal of Renal Care*, 39(3), 140–150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-6686.2013.12022.x</u>
- Alscher, M. D., Segerer, S. Braun, N., & Latus, J. (2018). Gender-specific differences in peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney and Blood Pressure Research*, 42(2), 276–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000477449</u>
- American College Health Association. (2018). Ecological model.

https://www.acha.org/HealthyCampus/HealthyCampus/Ecological\_Model.aspx

American Diabetes Association. (2013). Treatment and care for African Americans.

http://www.diabetes.org/living-with-diabetes/treatment-and-care/high-risk-

populations/treatment-african-americans.html

American Diabetes Association. (2019a). Diabetes basics type 2.

http://www.diabetes.org/diabetes-basics/type-2/

American Diabetes Association. (2019b). Gestational diabetes.

http://www.diabetes.org/diabetes-basics/gestational/what-is-gestationaldiabetes.html

- Amoako, Y. A., Laryea, D. O., Bedu-Addo, G., Andoh, H., & Awuku, Y. A. (2014).
   Clinical and demographic characteristics of chronic kidney disease patients in a tertiary facility in Ghana. *Pan-African Medical Journal*, 18.
   <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4258203/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4258203/</a>
- Arifin, S. R. M. (2018). Ethical considerations in qualitative study. *International Journal of Care Scholars*, 1(2).
- Axelrod, D. A., Schnitzler, M. A., Xiao, H., Irish, W., Tuttle-Newhall, E., Chang, S.-H.,
  Kasiske, B. L., Alhamad, T., & Lentine, K. L. (2018). An economic assessment of
  contemporary kidney transplant practice. *American Journal of Transplantation*,
  18(5), 1168–1176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14702</u>
- Balnaves, M., & Caputi, P. (2001). *Introduction to quantitative research methods: An investigative approach*. SAGE.
- BayinDonar, G., & Top, M. (2020). A conceptual framework of quality of life in chronic kidney disease in Turkey: A patient-focused approach. *International Journal of Health Planning and Management*, 35(6), 1335–1350.

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hpm.3038

Bertolin, D. C. (2016). Clinical variables, lifestyle and coping in hemodialysis. *Nursing* and Education Research, 34(3), 483–491.

https://doi.org/10.17533/udea.iee.v34n3a07

Blonde, L., Vassalotti, J. A., Pilon, D., Wynant, W., Zhdanava, M., Lefebvre, P.,

Voelker, J., Bailey, R., & Durkin, M. (2019). 14-OR: The cost of chronic kidney disease progression in type 2 diabetes patients. *Diabetes*, 68(Supplement 1).
<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.1225810.2337/db19-14-OR</u>

Bommer, C., Sagalova, V., Heesemann, E., Manne-Goehler, J., Atun, R., Bärnighausen,
T., Davis, J., & Vollmer, S. (2018). Global economic burden of diabetes in adults:
Projections from 2015 to 2030. *Diabetes Care*, *41*(5), 963–970.
https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.1225810.2337/dc17-1962

- Brar, A., & Markell, M. (2019). Impact of gender and gender disparities in patients with kidney disease. *Current Opinions in Nephrology and Hypertension*, 28(2), 178–182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MNH.00000000000482</u>
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development*. Harvard University Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1992). Ecological systems theory. In R. Vasta (Ed.), Six theories of child development: Revised formulations and current issues (pp. 187–249).
  Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Buur, L. E., Madsen, J. K., Eidemak, I., Krarup, E., Lauridsen, T. G., Taasti, L. H., & Finderup, J. (2022). Correction: Does conservative kidney management offer a quantity or quality of life benefit compared to dialysis? A systematic review. *BMC Nephrology*, 23, Article 352. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12882-022-02963-9

Cabacungan, A. N., Ellis, M. J., Sudan, D., Strigo, T. S., Pounds, I., Riley, J. A.,

Falkovic, M., Alkon, A. A., Peskoe, S. B., Davenport, C. A., Pendergast, J. F.,
Ephraim, P. L., Mohottige, D., Diamantidis, C. J., St. Clair Russell, J.,
DePasquale, N., & Boulware, L. E. (2020). Associations of perceived information adequacy and knowledge with pursuit of live donor kidney transplants and living donor inquiries among African American transplant candidates. *Clinical Transplantation*, Article e13799.

https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.1225810.1111/ctr.13799

- Casagrande, S. S., Linder, B., & Cowie, C. C. (2018). Prevalence of gestational diabetes and subsequent type 2 diabetes among US women. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, *141*, 200–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.05.010
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015). *Chronic kidney disease surveillance system: United States.* <u>http://www.cdc.gov/ckd</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017a). Basics about diabetes.

https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/diabetes.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017b). National kidney disease fact sheet.

https://www.cdc.gov/kidneydisease/pdf/kidney\_factsheet.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Diabetes basics type 1.

https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/type1.html

- Chen, Y. C., Chang, L. C., Liu, C. Y., Ho, Y. F., Weng, S. C., & Tsai, T. I. (2018). The roles of social support and health literacy in self-management among patients with chronic kidney disease. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 50(3), 265–275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12377</u>
- Cho, Y. H., & Lee, Y. M. (2019). Resilience as a moderator and mediator of the relationship between symptom experience and quality of life in hemodialysis patients. *Korean Journal of Adult Nursing*, 31(1), 68–77.

https://doi.org/10.7475/kjan.2019.31.1.68

- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Taylor & Francis.
- Crenesse-Cozien, N., Dolph, B., Said, M., Feeley, T. H., & Kayler, L. K. (2019). Kidney transplant evaluation: Inferences from qualitative interviews with African American patients and their providers. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 6(5), 917–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.1225810.1007/s40615-019-00592-x</u>
- Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory Into Practice*, 39(3), 124–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.1225810.1207/s15430421tip3903\_2

- CRICS. (2020). *Details on collaborating*. <u>http://www.cristudy.org/Chronic-Kidney-</u> <u>Disease/Chronic-Renal-Insufficiency-Cohort-Study/research-data</u>
- Curtis, E. A., Comiskey, C., & Dempsey, O. (2016). Importance and use of correlational research. *Nurse Researcher*, 23(6), 20–25. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2016.e1382

Dad, T., Grobert, M. E., & Richardson, M. M. (2020). Using patient experience survey data to improve in-center hemodialysis care: A practical review. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, 76(3), 407–415.

https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.1225810.1053/j.ajkd.2019.12.013

- Dall, T. M., Yang, W., Gillespie, K., Mocarski, M., Byrne, E., Cintina, I., Beronja, K., Semilla, A. P., Iacobucci, W., & Hogan, P. F. (2019). The economic burden of elevated blood glucose levels in 2017: Diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes, gestational diabetes mellitus, and prediabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 42(9), 1661–1668. https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.1225810.2337/dc18-1226
- Darling, N. (2007). Ecological systems theory: The person in the center of the circles. *Research in Human Development*, 4(3–4), 203–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/15427600701663023
- de Brito, D. C. S., Machado, E. L., Reis, I. A., Moreira, D. P., Nébias, T. H. M., & Cherchiglia, M. L. (2019). Modality transition on renal replacement therapy and quality of life of patients: A 10-year follow-up cohort study. *Quality of Life Research*, 28(6), 1485–1495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-019-02113-z</u>

- DeSisto, C. L., Kim, S. Y., & Sharma, A. J. (2014). Prevalence estimates of gestational diabetes mellitus in the United States, pregnancy risk assessment monitoring system (PRAMS), 2007–2010. *Preventing Chronic Disease, 11*, 130415. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd11.130415">http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd11.130415</a>
- D'Souza, M. S., Labrague, L. J., Karkada, S. N., & Kamble, P. (2019). Relationship between socio-demographic, clinical factors, and quality of life in adults living with diabetes nephropathy. *Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health*, 8(2), 343– 49. https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.1225810.1016/j.cegh.2019.08.019
- Erickson, K. F., Zhao, B., Ho, V., & Winkelmayer, W. C. (2018). Employment among patients starting dialysis in the United States. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 13(2), 265–273. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.06470617
- Ezenwaka, U., Mbachu, C., Ezumah, N., Eze, I., Agu, C., Agu, I., & Onwujekwe, O.
  (2020). Exploring factors constraining utilization of contraceptive services among adolescents in Southeast Nigeria: An application of the socio-ecological model. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1162. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09276-2
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39*(2), 175–191.
  https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Fisher, E. B. (2018). *Principles and concepts of behavioral medicine: A global handbook.* Springer.

- Garcia-Garcia, G., Agodoa, L. Y., & Norris, K. C. (2017). *Chronic kidney disease in disadvantaged populations*. Elsevier Academic Press.
- Gerogianni, S., Babatsikou, F., Gerogianni, G., Grapsa, E., Vasilopoulos, G., Zyg, S., & Koutis, C. (2014). Concerns of patients on dialysis: A research study. *Health Science Journal*, 8(4). <u>https://www.hsj.gr/abstract/concerns-of-patients-ondialysis-a-research-study-2632.html</u>
- Giguere, A., Zomahoun, H. T. V., Carmicael, P.-H., Uwizeye, C. B., Legare, F.,
  Grimshaw, J. M., Gagnon, M.-P., Auguste, D. U., & Massougbodji, J. (2020).
  Printed educational materials: Effects on professional practice and healthcare
  outcomes. *Cochrane Database Systems Review*, 8(8), Article CD004398.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004398.pub4
- Goff, S. L., Unruh, M. L., Klingensmith, J., Eneanya, N. D., Garvey, C., Germain, M. J.,
  & Cohen, L. M. (2019). Advance care planning with patients on hemodialysis: An implementation study. *BMC Palliative Care, 18*(1).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12904-019-0437-2

González-Pérez, A., Saéz, M. E., Vizcaya, D., Lind, M., & Rodriguez, L. A. G. (2019).
Impact of chronic kidney disease definition on assessment of its incidence and risk factors in patients with newly diagnosed type 1 and type 2 diabetes in the UK: A cohort study using primary care data from the United Kingdom. *Primary Care Diabetes*, *14*(4), 381–87. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2019.11.002</u>

Hallab, A., & Wish, J. B. (2018). Employment among patients on dialysis: An unfulfilled promise. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 13(2), 203–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.13491217</u>

Harding, K., Mersha, T. B., Webb, F. A., Vassalotti, J. A., & Nicholas, S. B. (2017).
Current state and future trends to optimize the care of African Americans with end-stage renal disease. *American Journal of Nephrology*, *46*(2), 156–164.
<a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000479479">http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000479479</a>

- Harris, R. E. (2020). *Epidemiology of chronic disease: Global perspectives* (2nd ed.).Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Hays, R. D., Kallich, J. D., Mapes, D. L., Coons, S. J., Amin, N., Carter, W. B., &
  Kamberg, C. (1997). *Kidney Disease Quality of Life Short Form (KDQoL-SF)*,
  Version 1.3: A manual for use and scoring. RAND Corporation.
- Hays, R. D., Kallich, J. D., Mapes, D. L., Coons, S. J., & Carter, W. B. (1994).Development of the kidney disease quality of life (KDQoL TM) instrument.*Quality of Life Research*, 3(5), 329–338.
- Higuita-Gutiérrez, L. F., Velasco-Castaño, J. J., & Jiménez Quiceno, J. N. (2019).
  Health-related quality of life in patients with chronic kidney disease in hemodialysis in Medellín (Colombia). *Patient Preference and Adherence*, *13*, 2061–2070. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S229670</u>

- Hill, N. R., Fatoba, S. T., Oke, J. L., Hirst, J. A., O'Callaghan, C. A., Lasserson, D. S., & Hobbs, F. R. (2016). Global prevalence of chronic kidney disease–a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS ONE*, *11*(7), e0158765.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158765">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158765</a>
- Himmelfarb, J., & Ikizler, T. A. (2018). Chronic kidney disease, dialysis, and transplantation e-book: A companion to Brenner and Rector's The Kidney (4th ed.). Elsevier.
- Hsu, R. K., & Powe, N. R. (2017). Recent trends in the prevalence of chronic kidney disease. *Current Opinion in Nephrology and Hypertension*, 26(3), 187–196. <u>http://doi.org/10.1097/mnh.00000000000315</u>
- Hwang, S. H., Lee, D. H., Min, J., & Jeon, J. Y. (2019). Handgrip strength as a predictor of all-cause mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease undergoing dialysis:
  a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Journal of Renal Nutrition*, 29(6),

471–479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jrn.2019.01.002</u>

- Isaza-Restrepo, A., Martin-Saavedra, J. S., Velez-Leal, J. L., Vargas-Barato, F., & Riveros-Dueñas, R. (2018). The peritoneum: Beyond the tissue–a review. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9, 738. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00738</u>
- Jean, G., Souberbielle, J. C., & Chazot, C. (2017). Vitamin D in chronic kidney disease and dialysis patients. *Nutrients*, 9(4), 328. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9040328</u>
- Johnson, B. (2001). Toward a new classification of nonexperimental quantitative research. *Educational Researcher*, *30*(2), 3–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0013189X030002003

- Karsanji, D. J., Pannu, N., Manns, B. J., Hemmelgarn, B. R., Tan, Z., Jindal, K., Scott-Douglas, N., & James, M. T. (2017). Disparity between nephrologists' opinions and contemporary practices for community follow-up after AKI hospitalization. *Clinical Journal of the American Society for Nephrology, 12*(11), 1753–61. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.01450217
- Kazancioğlu, R. (2013). Risk factors for chronic kidney disease: An update. *Kidney International Supplements*, *3*(4), 368–71. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/kisup.2013.79</u>
- Karopadi, A. N., Mason, G., Rettore, E., & Ronco, C. (2013). Cost of peritoneal dialysis and haemodialysis across the world. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, 28(10), 2553–2569. <u>https://academic.oup.com/ndt</u>
- Kilanowski, J. F. (2017). Breadth of the socio-ecological model. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 22(4), 295–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1059924X.2017.1358971</u>
- Koh, T. J. K. (2019). Nocturnal hemodialysis: Improved quality of life and patient outcomes. *International Journal of Nephrology and Renovascular Disease*, 12, 59–68. http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/IJNRD.S165919
- Korevaar, J. C., Merkus, M. P., Jansen, M. A., Dekker, F. W., Boeschoten, E. W., & Krediet, R. T. (2002). Validation of the KDQoL-SF TM: A dialysis-targeted health measure. *Quality of Life Research*, 11(5), 437–447.
- Koye, D. N., Magliano, D. J., Nelson, R. G., & Pavkov, M. E. (2018). The global epidemiology of diabetes and kidney disease. *Advances in Chronic Kidney Disease*, 25(2), 121–132. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.ackd.2017.10.011</u>
- Laster, M., Shen, J. I., & Norris, K. C. (2018). Kidney disease among African Americans: A population perspective. *American Journal of Kidney Disease*, 72(5), S3–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.06.021</u>
- Lauritsen, J. L. (2017). The age-crime debate: Assessing the limits of longitudinal selfreport data. In *Quantitative methods in criminology* (pp. 257-481). Routledge.
- Lee, T., Flythe. J. E., & Allon, M. (2021). Dialysis care around the world: A global perspectives series. *Kidney360*, 2(4), 604-607.

https://doi.org/10.34067/KID.0001082021

- Lee, Y.-B., Han, K., Kim, B., Jun, J. E., Lee, S.-E., Ahn, J., Kim, G., Jin, S.-M., & Kim, J. H. (2019). Risk of end-stage renal disease from chronic kidney disease defined by decreased glomerular filtration rate in type 1 diabetes: A comparison with type 2 diabetes and the role of metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, *35*(8), e3197. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.3197</u>
- Levey, A. S., Eckardt, K. U., Dorman, N. M., Christiansen, S. L., Hoorn, E. J.,
  Ingelfinger, J. R., Inker, L. A., Levin, A., Mehotra, R., Palevsky, P. M., Perazella,
  M. A., Tong, A., Allison, S. J., Bockenhauer, D., Briggs, J. P., Bromberg, J. S.,
  Davenport, A., Feldman, H. I., Foque, D.... & Winkelmayer, W. C. (2020).
  Nomenclature for kidney function and disease: Report of a Kidney Disease:
  Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Consensus Conference. *Kidney International*, 97(6), 1117–1129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kint.2020.02.010</u>

Lim, H., Yu, Z., Kang, A., Foo, M., & Griva, K. (2016). The course of quality of life in patients on peritoneal dialysis: A 12-month prospective observational cohort study. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 23(4), 507–14.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-015-9521-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-015-9521-z</a>

Lipford, K. J., McPherson, L., Hamoda, R., Browne, T., Gander, J. C., Pastan, S. O., & Patzer, R. E. (2018). Dialysis facility staff perceptions of racial, gender, and age disparities in access to renal transplantation. *BMC Nephrology*, *19*(1), 1–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12882-017-0800-6

- Lipworth, L., Mumma, M. T., Cavanaugh, K. L., Edwards, T. L., Ikizler, T. A., Tarone, R. E., McLaughlin, J. K., & Blot, W. J. (2012). Incidence and predictors of end stage renal disease among low-income blacks and whites. *PloS ONE*, 7(10), e48407. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048407</u>
- Mapes, D. L., Lopes, A. A., Satayathum, S., McCullough, K. P., Goodkin, D. A.,
  Locatelli, F., Fukuhara, S., Young E. W., Kurokawa, K., Saito, A., Bommer, J.,
  Wolfe, R. A., Held, P. J., & Port, F. K. (2003). Health-related quality of life as a
  predictor of mortality and hospitalization: The Dialysis Outcomes and Practice
  Patterns Study (DOPPS). *Kidney international*, 64(1), 339-349.

McDaniel, J. T. (2018). Emergency room visits for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Illinois counties: An epidemiological study based on the Social Ecological Model. *Chronic Illness*, 16(1), 69–82.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1742395318778102

- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly*, *15*(4), 351–377.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.

Moini, J. (2019). Epidemiology of diabetes. Elsevier.

- Mujais, S. K., Story, K., Brouillette, J., Takano, T., Soroka, S., Franek, C., Mendelssohn,
  D., & Finkelstein, F. O. (2009). Health-related quality of life in CKD patients:
  Correlates and evolution over time. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 4(8), 1293–1301. <u>https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.05541008</u>
- Nagel, T., Dingwall, K. M., Sweet, M., Kavanagh, D., Majoni, S. W., Sajiv, C., & Cass,
  A. (2022). The stay strong app as a self-management tool for first nations people with chronic kidney disease: A qualitative study. *BMC Nephrology*, 23(1), 1–14.
- Nagpal, N., Boutin-Foster, C., Melendez, J., Kubiszeswki, P., Uehara, K., Offidani, E., Faussett, Z., Chen, R., Redel, C., Waltrous, C., & Smith, B. (2017). Experiences of patients undergoing dialysis who are from ethnic and racial minorities. *Journal* of Renal Care, 43(1), 29–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jorc.12185</u>
- Nathans, L. L., Oswald, F. L., & Nimon, K. (2012). Interpreting multiple linear regression: A guidebook of variable importance. *Practical Assessment, Research,* and Evaluation, 17(1), 9.
- National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease. (2016). *Kidney disease* statistics for the United States. <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-</u> <u>information/health-statistics/kidney-disease</u>

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease. (2018a). *Choosing a treatment for kidney failure*. <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-</u>

information/kidney-disease/kidney-failure/choosing-treatment?dkrd=hispt0346

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease. (2018b). *What is peritoneal dialysis and how does it work?* <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/kidney-disease/kidney-failure/peritoneal-dialysis#whatis</u>

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease. (2018c). What are the types of peritoneal dialysis? <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-</u>

information/kidney-disease/kidney-failure/peritoneal-dialysis#types

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease. (2018d). Where can I do peritoneal dialysis? <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/kidney-</u> <u>disease/kidney-failure/peritoneal-dialysis#where</u>

National Institute of Health. (1993). Morbidity and mortality of dialysis.

https://consensus.nih.gov/1993/1993dialysis093html.htm

National Institute of Health. (2018). Factors contributing to higher incidence of diabetes for black Americans. <u>https://www.nih.gov/news-events/nih-research-</u>

matters/factors-contributing-higher-incidence-diabetes-black-americans

National Kidney Foundation. (2016). African Americans and kidney disease.

https://www.kidney.org/news/newsroom/factsheets/African-Americans-and-CKD

National Kidney Foundation. (2017). Dialysis.

https://www.kidney.org/atoz/content/dialysisinfo

- Nguyen, T., Wallerstein, N., Das, R., Sabado-Liwag, M., Bird, B., Jacob, T., Cannady, T., Martinez, L., Ndulue, U., Ortiz, A., Stubbs, A., Pichon, L., Tanjarsiri, S., Pang, J., & Woo, K. (2021). Conducting community-based participatory research with minority communities to reduce health disparities. In L. Dankwa-Mullan, E. J. Pérez-Stable, K. L. Gardner, X. Zhang, & M. Rosariok (Eds.), *The science of health disparities research* (pp. 171–186). John Wiley & Sons.
- Nee, R., Yuan, C. M., Hurst, F. P., Jindal, R. M., Agodoa, L. Y., & Abbott, K. C. (2017). Impact of poverty and race on pre-end-stage renal disease care among dialysis patients in the United States. *Clinical Kidney Journal*, *10*(1), 55–61. https://doi.org/10.1093/ckj/sfw098
- Neyra, J. A., & Goldstein, S. L. (2018). Optimizing renal replacement therapy deliverables through multidisciplinary work in the intensive care unit. *Clinical Nephrology*, 90(1), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.5414/CN109447</u>
- Niang, A., Iyengar, A., & Luyckx, V. A. (2018). Hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis in resource-limited settings. *Current Opinion in Nephrology and Hypertension*, 27(6), 463–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MNH.00000000000455</u>
- Nicholas, S. B., Kalantar-Zadeh, K., & Norris, K. C. (2013). Racial disparities in kidney disease outcomes. *Seminars in Nephrology*, 33(5), 409–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semnephrol.2013.07.002

Nonterah, C. W., & Gardiner, H. M. (2019). Pre-transplant evaluation completion for Black/African American renal patients: Two theoretical frameworks. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 103(5), 988–98.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2019.11.005

- Norris, K. C., Williams, S. F., Rhee, C. M., Nicholas, S. B., Kovesdy, C. P., Kalantar-Zadeh, K., & Ebony Boulware, L. (2017). Hemodialysis disparities in African Americans: The deeply integrated concept of race in the social fabric of our society. *Seminars in Dialysis*, 30(3), 213–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sdi.12589</u>
- Norton, J. M., & Eggers, P. (2020). Poverty and chronic kidney disease. In *Chronic renal* disease (pp. 181–196). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-815876-</u> <u>0.00013-9</u>
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>
- Paat, Y.-F. (2013). Working with immigrant children and their families: An application of Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 23(8), 954–966.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2013.800007

Pauly, M., Mateti, U. V., Shenoy, P., Saj, N., & Philip, M. L. (2020). Dimensions of quality of life in the different stages of chronic kidney disease patients–A cross-sectional study. *Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health*, 8(3), 797–801.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cegh.2020.02.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cegh.2020.02.002</a>

- Prezelin-Reydit, M., Combe, C., Harambat, J., Jacquelinet, C., Merville, P., Couzi, L., & Leffondré, K. (2019). Prolonged dialysis duration is associated with graft failure and mortality after kidney transplantation: Results from the French transplant database. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, *34*(3), 538-545. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfy039
- Queeley, G. L., & Campbell, E. S. (2018). Comparing treatment modalities for end-stage renal disease: A meta-analysis. *American Health & Drug Benefits*, 11(3), 118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2014.03.1690
- Ragab, M. A. F., & Arisha, A. (2018). Research methodology in business: A starter's guide. *Management and Organizational Studies*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.5430/mos.v5n1p1
- Raspovic, K. M., Ahn, J., La Fontaine, J., Lavery, L. A., & Wukich, D. K. (2017). Endstage renal disease negatively affects physical quality of life in patients with diabetic foot complications. *International Journal of Lower Extremity Wounds*, *16*(2), 135–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1534734617707081</u>
- Rett, K., & Hostalek, U. (2019). Understanding prediabetes: Definition, prevalence, burden and treatment options for an emerging disease. *Current Medical Research* and Opinion, 35(9), 1529–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03007995.2019.1601455</u>
- Reyes, M., Fuertes, J. N., Moore, M. T., Punnakudiyil, G. J., Calvo, L., & Rubinstein, S. (2021). Psychological and relational factors in ESRD hemodialysis treatment in an underserved community. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 104(1), 149–154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2020.06.002</u>

- Rhee, C. M., Brunelli, S. M., Subramanian, L., & Tentori, F. (2017). Measuring patient experience in dialysis: A new paradigm of quality assessment. *Journal of Nephrology*, 31(2), 231–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40620-017-0401-2</u>
- Rhee, C. M., Leung, A. M., Kovesdy, C. P., Lynch, K. E., Brent, G. A., & Kalantar-Zadeh, K. (2014). Updates on the management of diabetes in dialysis patients. *Seminars in Dialysis*, 27(2), 135–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sdi.12198</u>
- Roberti, J., Cummings, A., Myall, M., Harvey, J., Lippiett, K., Hunt, K., Cicora, F.,
   Alonso, J. P., & May, C. R. (2018). Work of being an adult patient with chronic kidney disease: A systematic review of qualitative studies. *BMJ Open*, 8(9).
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023507">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023507</a>
- Robinson, J. R., Daniels, G., & Walker, C. (2019). Experiences of African American older adults living with end stage renal disease undergoing hemodialysis. *Journal of Chi Eta Phi Sorority*.
- Rocha, F. L. D., Echevarría-Guanilo, M. E., Silva, D. M. G. V. D., Gonçalves, N., Lopes, S. G. R., Boell, J. E. W., & Mayer, B. L. D. (2020). Relationship between quality of life, self-esteem and depression in people after kidney transplantation. *RevistaBrasileira de Enfermagem*, 73(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/0034-7167-</u>2018-0245
- Rosansky, S. J., Schell, J., Shega, J., Scherer, J., Jacobs, L., Couchoud, C., Crews, D., & McNabney, M. (2017). Treatment decisions for older adults with advanced chronic kidney disease. *BMC Nephrology*, 18(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12882-017-0617-3</u>

- Rose, C., Gill, J., & Gill, J. S. (2017). Association of kidney transplantation with survival in patients with long dialysis exposure. *Clinical Journal of the American Society* of Nephrology, 12(12), 2024–2031. <u>https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.06100617</u>
- Saeed, F., Sardar, M. A., Davison, S. N., Murad, H., Duberstein, P. R., & Quill, T. E.
  (2019). Patients' perspectives on dialysis decision-making and end-of-life care. *Clinical Nephrology*, 91(5), 294–300. <u>https://doi.org/10.5414/CN109608</u>
- Sahaf, R., Ilali, E. S., Peyrovi, H., Kamrani, A. A. A., & Spahbodi, F. (2017). Uncertainty, the overbearing lived experience of the elderly people undergoing hemodialysis: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Community Based Nursing and Midwifery*, 5(1), 13–21.
- Salter, M. L., Kumar, K., Law, A. H., Gupta, N., Marks, K., Balhara, K., McAdams-DeMarco, M., Taylor, L. A., & Segev, D. L. (2015). Perceptions about hemodialysis and transplantation among African American adults with end-stage renal disease: Inferences from focus groups. *BMC Nephrology*, *16*, 49. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12882-015-0045-1
- Sciberras, A., & Scerri, J. (2017). Facilitators and barriers to treatment with haemodialysis among persons in mid-adulthood: An interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, *31*(4), 695–701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12381</u>

- Seshasai, R. K., Wong, T., Glickman, J. D., Shea, J. A., & Dember, L. M. (2019). The home hemodialysis patient experience: A qualitative assessment of modality use and discontinuation. *Hemodialysis International*, 23(2), 139–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.12713
- Shahgholian, N., & Yousefi, H. (2015). Supporting hemodialysis patients: A phenomenological study. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 20(5), 626–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/1735-9066.164514</u>
- Shen, J. I., Chen, L., Vangala, S., Leng, L., Shah, A., Saxena, A. B., Perl, J., & Norris, K. C. (2020). Socioeconomic factors and racial and ethnic differences in the initiation of home dialysis. *Kidney Medicine*, 2(2), 105–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xkme.2019.11.006</u>
- Shen, Y., Cai, R., Sun, J., Dong, X., Huang, R., Tian, S., & Wang, S. (2017). Diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for incident chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease in women compared with men: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Endocrine*, 55, 66–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-016-1014-6
- Sher, Y., & Maldonado, J. R. (2019). *Psychosocial care of end-stage organ disease and transplant patients.* Springer.
- St. Clair Russell, J., & Boulware, L. E. (2018). End-stage renal disease treatment options education: What matters most to patients and families. *Seminars in Dialysis*, 31(2), 122–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sdi.12665</u>
- Stromberg, H. (2020). *deWit's medical-surgical nursing e-book: Concepts & practice*. Elsevier.

Taylor, J., & Haintz, G. L. (2018). Influence of the social determinants of health on access to healthcare services among refugees in Australia. *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 24(1), 14–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/PY16147</u>

Tecson, K. M., Wilkinson, L. R., Smith, B., & Ko, J. M. (2019). Association between psychological resilience and subjective well-being in older adults living with chronic illness. *Proceedings (Baylor University Medical Center)*, 32(4), 520–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08998280.2019.1625660</u>

- Thurlow J. S., Joshi, M., Yan, G., Norris, K. C., Agodoa, L. Y., Yuan, C. M., & Nee, R. (2021). Global epidemiology of end-stage kidney disease and disparities in kidney replacement therapy. *American Journal of Nephrology*, 52, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1159/000514550
- Trinh, E., & Chan, C. T. (2017). The rise, fall, and resurgence of home hemodialysis. *Seminars in Dialysis*, *30*(2), 174–180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sdi.12572</u>

University of Michigan. (2019). U.S. Renal Data System 2019 Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. <u>https://www.uofmhealth.org/news/archive/201911/us-renal-data-system-2019-annual-data-report-epidemiology</u>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2019). HHS launches President Trump's 'Advancing American Kidney Health' initiative. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2019/07/10/hhs-launches-president-trump-</u> advancing-american-kidney-health-initiative.html Vadakedath, S., & Kandi, V. (2017). Dialysis: A review of the mechanisms underlying complications in the management of chronic renal failure. *Cureus*, 9(8), e1603. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.1603</u>

Vart, P., van Zon, S. K. R., Gansevoort, R. T., Bültmann, U., & Reijneveld, S. A. (2017). SES, Chronic kidney disease, and race in the U.S.: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 53(5), 730–739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.06.036</u>

- Verbene, W. R., Dijkers, J., Kelder, J. C., Geers, A. B. M., Jellema, W. T., Vincent, H. H., van Delden, J. J. M., & Bos, W. J. W. (2018). Value-based evaluation of dialysis versus conservative care in older patients with advanced chronic kidney disease: A cohort study. *BMC Nephrology*, *19*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12882-018-1004-4</u>
- Vides, M. C., & Martins, M. R. I. (2017). Bone pain assessment in patients with chronic kidney disease undergoing hemodialysis. *RevistaDor*, 18(3), 245–49. https://doi.org/10.5935/1806-0013.20170109
- Walker, R. C., Howard, K., Tong, A., Palmer, S. C., Marshall, M. R., & Morton, R. L.
  (2016). The economic considerations of patients and caregivers in choice of dialysis modality. *Hemodialysis International: International Symposium on Home Hemodialysis*, 20(4), 634–42. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/hdi.12424</u>
- Wang, J. Y., Lederer, S. E., & Ross, L. F. (2019). African-Americans with end stage renal disease in the early years of kidney transplantation. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 111(4), 352–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnma.2019.01.005</u>

- Wan Zukiman, W. Z. H., Yaakup, H., Zakaria, N. F., & Shah, S. A. B. (2017). Symptom prevalence and the negative emotional states in end-stage renal disease patients with or without renal replacement therapy: A cross-sectional analysis. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 20(10), 1127–34. https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2016.0450
- Webster, A. C., Nagler, E. V., Morton, R. L., & Masson, P. (2017). Chronic kidney disease. *The lancet*, 389(10075), 1238-1252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32064-5</u>
- Wesner, C., Feldhacker, D., & Molitor, W. L. (2020). Teaching quality of life and wellbeing in public health. In *Teaching quality of life in different domains* (pp. 231– 255). Springer.
- Whipple, M. O., Schorr, E. N., Talley, K. M. C., Lindquist, R., Bronas, U. G., & Treat-Jacobson, D. (2019). A mixed methods study of perceived barriers to physical activity, geriatric syndromes, and physical activity levels among older adults with peripheral artery disease and diabetes. *Journal of Vascular Nursing*, *37*(2), 91– 105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvn.2019.02.001
- Williams, M. E. (2019). Said the glucose sensor to the insulin pump: Can glycemic control be improved in hospitalized ESRD patients with diabetes mellitus? *Kidney International*, 96(3), 540–542. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kint.2019.05.003</u>

Winkelmayer, W. C., Liu, J., Chertow, G. M., & Tamura, M. K. (2011). Predialysis nephrology care of older patients approaching end-stage renal disease. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 171(15), 1371–8.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2011.360

- Yarkoni, T. (2022). The generalizability crisis. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 45, 1-78. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X20001685
- Zangirolami-Raimundo, J., Echeimberg, J. D. E., & Leone, C. (2018). Research methodology topics: Cross-sectional studies. *Journal of Human Growth and Development*, 28(3), 356–360. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7322/jhgd.152198</u>
- Zaman, N. I., Mehmood, M., Yousuf, S., Khan, A., & Kiran, I. (2022). Problem-focused coping and suicidal risk in individuals with end-stage renal disease: Moderating role of intrinsic religiosity. *Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 32(2). https://www.mdpi.com/journal/behavsci
- Zazzeroni, L., Pasquinelli, G., Nanni, E., Cremonini, V., & Rubbi, I. (2017). Comparison of quality of life in patients undergoing hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Kidney and Blood Pressure Research, 42*, 717–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000484115</u>
- Zhou, T., Sun, D., Li, X., Heianza, Y., Nisa, H., Hu, G., Pei, X., Shang, X., & Qi, L.
  (2018). Prevalence and trends in gestational diabetes mellitus among women in the United States, 2006–2016. *Diabetes, 67*(Supplement 1).
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-121-OR">https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-121-OR</a>

## **Appendix A: CRIC Data Repository**

DocuSign Envelope ID: D0FAF815-2FA5-4BAD-A0C9-D6C9E96D6BD9

NIDDK Central Repository

Data Use Agreement

Contact: NIDDK-CRsupport@niddk.nih.gov

#### Requestor: Gudeta Fufaa

E-mail Address: gudeta.fufaa@mail.waldenu.edu

Requesting Institution: WALDEN UNIVERSITY

Requested Data: CRIC

If Requestor is funded by NIH for this Research Project, the grant number is:

If Research Project is associated with X01 access mechanism, the number is:

#### Introduction

The National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Disease (NIDDK) has supported collection of data from participants in numerous studies. The data are held by the NIDDK Central Repository (hereinafter referred to as the "Repository"). In order to maximize the benefits of these resources collected with public funds and maximize their research value, it is important that these resources be made available, with appropriate terms and conditions, to the largest possible number of qualified investigators in a timely manner.

Transfer of resources to and from the Repository is governed by the NIH and NIDDK data sharing policies.

The Repository does not receive personally identifiable information or codes linking such information to Data.

In the event that investigators from more than one institution will be collaborating on a project using the Data transferred under this Certification, an investigator from each institution is required to complete a separate Data Use Agreement (DUA).

It is the intent of the NIDDK that Requestors of Repository held resources recognize the limitations imposed by the original informed consent agreements of contributing studies.

NIDDK has established policies and processes to make these Repository held resources available through appropriate terms and conditions to qualified requestors. The Repository requires the Requestor to read, understand, and sign this DUA and their institution to acknowledge and agree to abide by the terms and conditions of this DUA as a condition of access. A Requester who is granted access to Data must adhere to the specifications of this DUA as executed in its final form. Failure to do so shall result in denial of further access by the Requestor's Institution to resources available through the Repository.

### Terms of Access

1. Definitions:

Contributing Study Investigators: Research investigators who provided the phenotypic data and specimens to the NIDDK Central Database Repository.

Materials: Include but are not limited to data, specimens, products, analytes, metadata, documentation, code, analytic tools, algorithms, workflows, results, summaries, or analyses provided by the NIDDK or generated by the Research Project.

Requestor: Research investigator(s) who submitted a request for access to Repository held resources, have been approved by the appropriate NIH oversight committee, and have a fully-executed agreement for the requested resources.

Requesting Institution: An institution, organization, or corporation who is the employer of the Requestor. The Requesting Institution assumes responsibility for the Requestor's compliance with the terms and conditions of this agreement, and is responsible for complying with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and requilations for research participant protections.

Repository Data (referred to as "Data"): The relevant data from a specific project(s). Access to these resources may be available from repositories other than the Repository (for example, dbGaP).

Research Project: A summary of the proposed research that includes the project title, the Requestor's name and Requesting Institution's name, the names of any Requestor's collaborators and their institutions, a one to two paragraph Research Use Statement, a description of the research objectives and design, and an analysis plan. (Appendix A)

Research Use Statement: Statement of proposed research to be conducted which may be made publicly available. The Research Use Statement is submitted by the Requestor as a part of the Research Project request for access to data.

Study Participant: An individual who participated in the clinical research protocol as either a healthy human or a patient in a specific area of study.

#### 2. Research Project: Use of Data

a) The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree that the Repository Data shall be used only for research purposes by the Requestor in his/her laboratory under suitable conditions, as outlined in Article 5 for the research described with specificity in the Research Project

NIDDK Page 1 Date Generated: 2022/05/18							
	Name of Principal Investigator: Gudeta Fufaa						
Title of Research Plan: The Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African Americans: A Cohort Study							
Version 3.0							

attached as Appendix A. The Data shall not be used in any research that is not disclosed and approved as part of the Research Project. The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to retain control over the Data and further agree not to transfer the Data to any third parties not under the direct supervision of the Requestor.

b) New uses of the Data outside those described in the current Research Project require submission of a new DUA request. Modification to an approved Research Project requires submission to the appropriate NIH oversight committee of amendment to the Research Project. Appointment of another or different Requestor requires completion of an approved new Research Project and requires submission of a request to amend this DUA.

c) The Requestor and Requesting Institution acknowledge that other researchers have access to Repository resources, and that duplication of research is a distinct possibility.

d) The Requestor and Requesting Institution further acknowledge that they are responsible for ensuring that all their uses of the Data are consistent with federal (including 45 CFR Part 46), state, and local laws and any applicable institutional policies and that limitations in the informed consents delineated by the Repository will be complied with.

e) The Requestor and Requesting Institution shall use the Data only in accordance with the individual studies' IRB approved informed consents and Approved Research Plan in Appendix A.

It is anticipated that, at least in some cases, the Data at the Repository will be updated with additional information and will be so identified by an appropriate version number. All statements herein will apply to current and all future versions of the Data, and instructions provided by the Repository.

### 3. Human Subject Protections: Compliance with Requirements

a) The Requestor and Requesting Institution acknowledge that the conditions for use of these Data may require the review and subsequent approval or a determination of "Not Human Subjects Research" by the Requestor's and Requesting Institution's Institutional Review Board (IRB) or other approval body operating under an Office of Human Research Protections (OHRP) - approved Assurance and in accordance with Department of Health and Human Services regulations at 45 CFR Part 46. The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to comply fully with all such conditions as instructed by the Repository.

b) In order to respect the privacy of the Study Participants, the Requestor and Requesting Institution agree not to contact or make any effort to identify individuals, families, communities, tribes or populations which are or may be the source of the Data. Should the Requestor inadvertently receive identifiable information or otherwise identify a participant, Requestor shall promptly notify the Repository and follow the Repository's reasonable written instructions, which may include return or destruction of the identifiable information. (This condition is not applicable to Contributing Study Investigators who provided the data used to generate the Data at and from the Repository, if they have appropriate IRB approval to retain the Study Participant identities or re-contact Study Participants.)

c) The Requestor and Requesting Institution shall not combine or link the resources provided with any other collection or source of information that may contain information specific to individuals, unless specifically indicated and approved in the proposed research (Appendix A).

d) The Requestor and Requesting Institution shall promptly report to the Repository any use or disclosure of the Data not provided for by this Agreement of which it becomes aware.

e) The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to report to NIDDK in advance of implementation of any proposed modifications in the Research Project and any unanticipated issues involving risk to Study Participants or others, at the following e-mail address: NIDDK-CRsupport@niddk.nih.gov. The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to this provision in addition to any of Requestor's and Requesting Institution's institutional policies or any federal, state, and local laws and regulations which provide additional protections for human subjects. Such agreement to report to the NIDDK does not supersede Requestor and Requesting Institution's responsibilities to comply with the applicable laws, regulations and policies related to protections for human subjects.

#### 4. Public Posting of Approved User's Research Use

The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree that if the attached Research Project is approved, information about the proposed research use may be posted on a public website that describes the Data requested from the Repository. The information may include the Requestor's and Requesting Institution's names, project title, and Research Use Statement. Prior to NIDDK Repository approval of a Research Project, the contents of all requests for access are consider confidential and are not published or shared with any third party.

#### 5. Data Security/Non-transferability

The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to store the Data in a secure manner and environment with adequate security controls, and to maintain appropriate control over the Data. Best practices for computer security and data control are available online at https://www.niddkrepository.org/static/bestpractices.pdf. The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to establish appropriate administrative, technical, procedural, and physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Data and to prevent unauthorized access to it. The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to ensure that the Data is protected by reasonable safeguards against loss, unauthorized access, use, modification, or disclosure, and any misuse, and agree to notify the Repository at the following e-mail address: NIDDK-CRsupport@niddk.nih.gov as soon as a security breach is discovered.

a) Data from the Repository represent a significant investment on the part of NIDDK. The Requestor and Requesting Institution therefore agree to retain control over the Data, and further agree not to transfer or distribute the Data in any form to any third party or entity or individual not under the Requestor's direct supervision. The Data may be shared with Requestor's collaborating investigators listed in the attached Research Project who are also approved users who have a fully-executed DUA for the purposes of this Research Project. The

NIDDK	Page 2	Date Generated: 2022/05/18
	Name of Principal Investigator: Gudeta Fufaa	
Title of Research Plan: The	e Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African	Americans: A Cohort Study
	Version 3.0	

Requestor and Requesting Institution acknowledge responsibility for ensuring appropriate use of these Data in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

b) The Requester agrees to retain control over the Data and further agrees not to distribute, sell, or license individual-level data in any form. No copies or derivatives shall be made of the Data except as necessary for the purposes authorized in this DUA. The Requestor and Requesting Institution acknowledge that if any copies of the Data are generated, the terms and conditions of this DUA apply to such copies. The Requestor shall keep an accurate written account of all such copies and derivative files, which will be furnished to the NIDDK upon request. Upon completion of the Research Project or the termination of this DUA, the Requestor shall destroy all files received or return any copies and derivatives to the Repository, if requested.

c) Subject to Article 7, the Data transferred under this DUA will be safely maintained by the Requestor for no longer than five (5) years from the date of receipt. No later than the end of the five (5) year period the Requestor and Requesting Institution shall send the Repository contact person an email at NIDDK-CRsupport@niddk.nih.gov certifying that all data, copies, and derivatives have been returned and deleted.

d) The Requestor agrees that if he/she changes institutions, a new DUA must be executed in which the new Requesting Institution agrees to NIDDK principles, policies, procedures and the terms of access per this DUA in order for the Requestor to continue the Research Project at the new institution.

### 6. Intellectual Property

By requesting access to Data from the Repository, the Requestor and Requesting Institution acknowledge the guidelines outlined below:

a) Achieving maximum public benefit is the ultimate goal of Data distribution through the Repository mechanisms and it should be considered pre-competitive.

b) The Repository does not explicitly prohibit the patenting and licensing of results generated by the Research Project. In view of the current law (Association for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Genetics, Inc., 569 U.S. (2013), naturally occurring DNA sequences and their use as a biomarker of disease or biological function are not patentable in the United States. Therefore, basic sequence data and certain related information (e.g., genotypes, haplotypes, p-values, allele frequencies), and all conclusions derived directly from them are pre-competitive and should remain freely available, without any licensing requirement in accordance with the NIH sharing policies.

c) New Materials generated from use of NIDDK Central Repository resources must remain freely available and adhere to NIH sharing policies.

#### 7. Data Access Renewal Period

Initial access is granted for two (2) years from the date of approval of the DUA. Renewal of access may be granted, if requested of the Repository, by submitting a letter through the original online Repository request. The letter should be signed by the Requestor and an authorized representative of their institution in the same manner as this Data Use Agreement. An example template is located at <a href="https://repository.niddk.nih.gov/static/NIDDKCR\_Static\_Extension\_Template.pdf">https://repository.niddk.nih.gov/static/NIDDKCR\_Static\_Extension\_Template.pdf</a>. Questions regarding this process may be directed to NIDDK-CRsupport@niddk.nih.gov

#### 8. Research Progress Reporting and Dissemination of Research Results

Prompt publication or any public disclosure of the results of the Research Project is encouraged. The Requestors are strongly encouraged to publish their results in peer-reviewed journals.

a) The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to submit, one (1) year from the date of the DUA approval or renewal of access being granted, a progress report to the Repository on the Research Project. The progress report should include all annotated data associated with any publications submitted for publication, any unpublished or published analyses and summaries, and all published references conducted with the Data. The aforementioned Materials, documents, and progress report may then be included in the Repository at the discretion of NIDDK.

b) Before the Requestor or the Requesting Institution submits any publication, abstract, or other Materials for publication or intends to publicly disclose any information about the Data, they will send a copy of the Materials to the Repository (NIDDK-CRsupport@niddk.nih.gov) at least thirty (30) days in advance of submitting for publication or otherwise publicly disclosing the Materials, in order for the Repository to review it for confidentiality requirements and compliance with research objectives as described in Appendix A.

c) The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree not to publish or otherwise disclose the Data to any person or organization unless the Data have been aggregated (that is, combined into groupings of data such that the data are no longer specific to any individuals within each grouping), and no cells (aggregates of data) contain information on fewer than ten (10) individuals or fewer than five (5) providers or facilities. The Requestor and Requesting Institution shall not publish or otherwise disclose Data that identify individual providers or facilities, or from which such identities could be inferred.

d) The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree to acknowledge the contribution of the Contributing Study Investigators and the Repository in any and all oral and written presentations, disclosures, and publications resulting from any and all analyses of the Data. A sample statement to be used in acknowledgements can be found at: https://repository.niddk.nih.gov/pages/acknowledgements.

#### 9. Non-Endorsement, Non-Indemnification

The Requestor and Requesting Institution acknowledge that although all reasonable efforts have been taken to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the Data in the Repository, the Data are provided as a service to the research community. The Data are supplied to Requestor and Requesting Institution with NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS

NIDDK	Page 3	Date Generated: 2022/05/18
	Name of Principal Investigator: Gudeta Fufaa	
Title of Research Plan: The	Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African	Americans: A Cohort Study
	Version 3.0	

FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NIDDK AND THE REPOSITORY makes no representation that the use of the Data will not infringe any patent or proprietary rights of third parties.

The Requestor and Requesting Institution agree not to claim, infer, or imply endorsement by the United States Government or NIH/NIDDK of the Research Project, the Requestor or Requesting Institution, or any resulting publications or commercial product(s).

No indemnification for any loss, claim, damage or liability is intended or provided by any party to this DUA. Each party shall be liable for any loss, claim, damage, or liability that the party incurs as a result of its activities under this agreement, except that the NIDDK, as an agency of the United States, assumes liability only to the extent provided under the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. 2671 et seq. (https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?path=/prelim@title28/part6/chapter171&edition=prelim)

10. Disqualification, Enforcement

Failure to comply with any of the terms specified herein may result in disqualification of the Requestor or Requesting Institution from receiving additional resources from the Repository. All remedies under law or equity will be available to the United States Government in the enforcement of this agreement.

I have read and understood the conditions outlined in this agreement and I agree to abide by them in the receipt and use of the Dataset(s).

REQUESTOR SIGNATURE



Signature of Requestor

Name of Requestor: Gudeta Fufaa

Agreeing to be bound by the terms of this agreement, the parties hereby affix their signatures:

#### **REQUESTING INSTITUTION AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE**

DocuSigned by: Ds. dana Aym 18F182CE78764AA. 6/1/2022

Authorized Signature for Requesting Institution

Name of Authorized Signatory: Dr. Laura Lynn

Title of Authorized Signatory: Dean of Research

Requesting Institution: WALDEN UNIVERSITY

### NIDDK INFORMATION and AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE



6/1/2022

Signature of Program Official or Representative

Name of Program Official: Rebecca M. Rodriguez, Ph.D.

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases

NIDDK	Page 4	Date Generated: 2022/05/18				
	Name of Principal Investigator: Gudeta Fufaa					
Title of Research Plan: The	e Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African	Americans: A Cohort Study				
	Version 3.0					

DocuSigned by: Agres Eley EDCBCCBBD9D4470

6/1/2022

NIDDK Authorized Signature or Representative

Name of Authorized Official: Agnes Eley on behalf of Charles Niebylski Ph.D., J.D.

Title of Authorized Official: Director, Technology Advancement Office

Address: 31 Center Drive, Bethesda, MD 20892

Any false or misleading statements made, presented, or submitted to the Government, including any relevant omissions, under this Agreement and during the course of negotiation of this Agreement are subject to all applicable civil and criminal statutes including Federal statutes 31 U.S.C. §§ 3801-3812 (civil liability) (US Code Civil Liability) and 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (criminal liability including fine(s) and/or imprisonment) (US Code Criminal Liability).

NIDDK Page 5 Date Generated: 20							
	Name of Principal Investigator: Gudeta Fufaa						
Title of Research Plan: The	Title of Research Plan: The Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African Americans: A Cohort Study						
Version 3.0							

### Appendix A

#### **Research Project**

Project Title: The Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African Americans: A Cohort Study

Requestor's Name: Gudeta Fufaa

Requesting Institution's Name: WALDEN UNIVERSITY

Other Users under the PI: Cynthia Newell Latoya Benjamin

Names of any independent collaborators and their Institutions:

Description of Research: Several researchers have studied the impact of ESRD on individuals' quality of life (QoL), as well as their social, psychological, and mental functionalities The number of studies that have systematically assessed the impacts of dialysis on QoL among racial and ethnic minority populations are limited. Therefore, there is a need to quantify the impact of dialysis on the QoL of underrepresented populations such as African Americans. The problem is that individuals on dialysis often face difficulties and challenges with regard to the management of their health resulting in low QoL but the full, quantified extent of this QoL toll is not yet fully understood. Further research is needed to quantify the burdens of CKD with respect to social factors. In addition, studies with larger sample sizes are needed to better understand the effects of dialysis on racial minorities. The only data source is the CRICS dataset. Once retrieved, the data will be stored using encrypted computerized software that is only accessible by PI, the other researcher's computer. The data from this study will serve to help quantify the socioemotional burdens of ESRD and dialysis in a way that may help inform future health policy. Through the findings of this study, practitioners and public health policymakers may gain a better understanding of how a person's social ecology combines with causes of ESRD and specific types of treatment to shape patients' QOL. This may in turn contribute to the development of policies or practices to better serve those members of the African American poulation most affected in terms of QOL.

Research objectives and design: The proposed study will be quantitative in nature. Using closed-ended questions, quantitative researchers can gather and analyze data from large sample sizes with relative efficiency. The specific research design for the proposed study will be that of a cohort or historical study dataset containing the relevant data-namely, the CRICS dataset. The following quantitative research questions are proposed in alignment with the purpose of the study. Corresponding null and alternate hypotheses accompany each research question, RO1: Is there a significant relationship between demographic variables and health-related OOL in African American ESRD patients? H01:There is no significant relationship between demographic predictors (i.e., age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and health-related QOL in African American ESRD patients. HA1: There is a statistically significant relationship between demographic predictors (i.e., age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation) and health-related QOL in African American ESRD patients. RQ2: Is there a significant relationship between the length of time on dialysis and health-related QOL in African American ESRD patients? H02:There is no significant relationship between type of dialysis and health-related QOL in African American ESRD patients. HA2: There is a statistically significant relationship between type of dialysis and health-related QOL in African American ESRD patients. RQ3: Do the variables of length of time for treatment on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation, moderate the relationships between dialysis and health-related Kidney Disease and Quality of Life (QoL) in African American ESRD patients? H03:Variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation, do not moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and health-related QOL in African American ESRD patients. HA3:Variables of length of time on dialysis, types of dialysis, family history, and occupation, do moderate the relationships between type of dialysis and health-related QoL in African American ESRD patients. The CRICS data offers extensive external validity. The CRICS is a multisite study conducted at a large scale, with a resultingly high sample size. Although this sample still may have incurred self-selection bias, the size and breadth of the sample offers a much greater likelihood of representativeness than a sample collected by a single researcher directly would allow for. Hence, the use of secondary data will greatly enhance the proposed study's external validity.

Analysis Plan: The collected data will be analyzed using descriptive statistics and multiple linear regression analysis. All data analyses will be carried out using SPSS statistical analysis software. The descriptive analysis will be used to characterize the sample and the variables. It will include the calculation of means, medians, ranges, and other statistical properties. Some of the data may also be graphed against demographics to indicate their distribution within the sample. To answer RQ1, an initial multiple linear regression model will be developed. First, the assumptions of multiple regression will be tested. If the assumptions cannot be validated, appropriate transforms will be attempted, and, failing those, nonparametric regression will be used instead. Then, a regression model with the demographics of age, gender, length of time for treatment, family history, and occupation as predictors and health-related quality of life will be developed. Provided that the overall multiple R2

NIDDK	Page 6	Date Generated: 2022/05/18
	Name of Principal Investigator: Gudeta Fufaa	
Title of Research Plan: The	Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African	Americans: A Cohort Study
	Version 3.0	

of the regression model is significantly different from 0 and at least one predictor has a statistically significant coefficient of regression, the null hypothesis for RQ1 may be rejected. Then, RQ3 will be tested, which will entail adding the factors of demographics and type of dialysis to the model developed in RQ1. As before, the assumptions will be verified and appropriate steps taken if they are not met. Then, it will be determined whether the overall R2 of the new model is significantly different from 0 and significantly greater than the multiple R2 achieved with just the demographics. If the multiple R2 increases, then the null hypothesis RQ3 may be rejected if the coefficient of regression for the type of dialysis is significantly different from 0. In the estimation of the sample size, as per the population and sample size section, the minimum necessary sample is expected to be 200, well exceeded by the 5,112 participants in the dataset.

#### Please include a one-two (1-2) paragraph Research Use Statement which may be made publicly available.

The purpose of this quantitative, nonexperimental, cohort study is to examine the effects and different types of hemodialysis on patient QoL outcomes above and beyond demographic predictors of QoL in African American ESRD patients. I will use data from the CRIC Study of renal disease, which includes key outcome data for renal disease patients such as kidney disease-related QOL data, which is an 11-dimension construct that is measured using the Kidney Disease Quality of Life (KDQOL)-36 instrument. The results of this study will serve to help quantify the social-emotional burdens of ESRD and dialysis in a way that may help inform future health policy. Through the findings of this study, practitioners and public health policymakers may gain a better understanding of how a person's social ecology combines with causes of ESRD and specific types of treatment to shape patients' QOL. This better understanding, in turn, may contribute to the development of policies or practices to better serve those members of the African American population most affected in terms of QOL. Not all participants in the CRICS are at the ESRD stage and hence on dialysis. As this study is concerned with ESRD and not kidney disease, will not be included.

NIDDK	Page 7	Date Generated: 2022/05/18			
	Name of Principal Investigator: Gudeta Fufaa				
Title of Research Plan: The	Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African	Americans: A Cohort Study			
Version 3.0					

### Benjamin, Latoya

From:	IRB <irb@mail.waldenu.edu></irb@mail.waldenu.edu>
Sent:	Wednesday, April 6, 2022 7:27 PM
To:	Latoya Benjamin
Cc:	Fufaa, Gudeta; IRB
Subject:	IRB Approval Granted, Conditional upon Partner Approval - Latoya Benjamin

### Dear Latoya Benjamin,

This email is to notify you that the Institutional Review Board (IRB) has approved your application for the study entitled, "The Impact of Dialysis on Quality of Life for African Americans: A Cohort Study," <u>conditional</u> upon the approval of the research partner, as documented in the notification of approval, which will need to be submitted to the Walden IRB when obtained. You may not commence the study until the Walden IRB confirms receipt of that notification of approval. Our records indicate that you will be analyzing data provided to you by NIDDK-CR as collected under its oversight. Since this study will serve as a Walden doctoral capstone, the Walden IRB will oversee your capstone data analysis and results reporting. The IRB approval number for this study is 04-06-22-0610856, which expires when your student status ends.

This confirmation is contingent upon your adherence to the exact procedures described in the final version of the documents that have been submitted to <u>IRB@mail.waldenu.edu</u> as of this date. This includes maintaining your current status with the university and the oversight relationship is only valid while you are an actively enrolled student at Walden University. If you need to take a leave of absence or are otherwise unable to remain actively enrolled, this is suspended.

If you need to make any changes to your research staff or procedures, you must obtain IRB approval by submitting the IRB Request for Change in Procedures Form. You will receive confirmation with a status update of the request within 10 business days of submitting the change request form and are not permitted to implement changes prior to receiving approval. Please note that Walden University does not accept responsibility or liability for research activities conducted without the IRB's approval, and the University will not accept or grant credit for student work that fails to comply with the policies and procedures related to ethical standards in research.

When you submitted your IRB materials, you made a commitment to communicate both discrete adverse events and general problems to the IRB within 1 week of their occurrence/realization. Failure to do so may result in invalidation of data, loss of academic credit, and/or loss of legal protections otherwise available to the researcher.

Both the Adverse Event Reporting form and Request for Change in Procedures form can be obtained on the Tools and Guides page of the Walden website: <a href="https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-center/research-ethics/tools-guides">https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-center/research-ethics/tools-guides</a>

Doctoral researchers are required to fulfill all of the Student Handbook's <u>Doctoral Student Responsibilities Regarding</u> <u>Research Data</u> regarding raw data retention and dataset confidentiality, as well as logging of all recruitment, data collection, and data management steps. If, in the future, you require copies of the originally submitted IRB materials, you may request them from Institutional Review Board.

Please note that this letter indicates that the IRB has confirmed your study meets Walden University's ethical standards. You may not begin the doctoral study analysis phase of your doctoral study, however, until you have received the **Notification of Approval to Conduct Research** e-mail. Once you have received this notification by email, you may begin your study's data analysis.

Both students and faculty are invited to provide feedback on this IRB experience at the link below:

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=qHBJzkJMUx43pZegKImdiQ\_3d\_3d

Sincerely, Libby Munson Research Ethics Support Specialist Research Ethics, Compliance, and Partnerships Walden University 100 Washington Avenue South, Suite 1210 Minneapolis, MN 55401 Email: <u>irb@mail.waldenu.edu</u> Phone: (612) 312-1283 Fax: (612) 338-5092

Information about the Walden University Institutional Review Board, including instructions for application, may be found at this link: <u>http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/orec</u>



# **Appendix B: G\*Power Analysis**

## Study of Quality of LifeFor Patients on Dialysis

## What is the purpose of the study?

This study is being carried out in cooperation with physicians and their patients. Thepurpose is to assess the quality of life of patients with kidney disease.

## What will I be asked to do?

For this study, we want you to complete a survey today about your health, how youfeel and your background.

### Confidentiality of information?

We do not ask for your name. Your answers will be combined with those of other participants in reporting the findings of the study. Any information that would permitidentification of you will be regarded as strictly confidential. In addition, all information collected will be used only for purposes of the study, and will not be disclosed or released for any other purpose without your prior consent.

## How will participation benefit me?

The information you provide will tell us how you feel about your care and furtherunderstanding about the effects of medical care on the health of patients. This information will help to evaluate the care delivered.

## Do I have to take part?

You do not have to fill out the survey and you can refuse to answer any question. Your decision to participate will not affect your opportunity to receive care.

		1
Your Health		
This survey includes a wide variety of questions about y interested in how you feel about each of these issues.	our health andyour	life. We are
1. In general, would you say your health is: [Mark a best describes your answer.]	in	in the one boxthat
Excellent Very good Good ▼ ▼ ▼	Fair I ▼	Poor ▼
	4	5
The following items are about activities you might do <u>health now limit</u> you in these activities? If so, how m line.]	o during a typicalda uch? [Mark an	y. <u>Does your</u> in a box on each
	Yes, limited a l lot	Yes, No, not imited a limited little at all
2. <u>Moderate activities</u> , such as moving a table, pushing a vacuum cleaner, bowling, or playing golf		
3. Climbing <u>several</u> flights of stairs	[] 1	2 3

Durii other	ng the <u>past 4 wee</u> regular daily ac	itivities <u>as a res</u>	sult of your physi	cal health	•		
					Yes	No	
				Γ	▼	•	
4.	Accomplished i	<u>less</u> than you we	ould like	-	1	l	2
5.	Were limited in	the kind of wor	k or other				
	activities				1	l	2
-Pri	coocd or anarous						ing
					Yes	No	) )
					Yes ▼	No ▼	ш <b>g</b>
6.	Accomplished	less than you we	ould like	. [	Yes V	No ▼	2
6. 7.	Accomplished Didn't do work	l <u>ess</u> than you we or other activiti	ould like es as <u>carefully</u> as		Yes V	No ▼	2
6. 7.	<u>Accomplished</u> Didn't do work <u>usual</u>	less than you we or other activiti	ould like es as <u>carefully</u> as	. [	Yes ▼	No ▼ I	2 2
б. 7.	Accomplished Didn't do work usual usual	• less than you wo or other activiti	ould like es as <u>carefully</u> as 	Fere with y	Yes	No ▼ 1	2 2
6. 7. D (in	<u>Accomplished</u> Didn't do work <u>usual</u> uring the <u>past 4 v</u> ncluding both wo	or other activiti <u>veeks</u> , how mu ork outside the	ould like es as <u>carefully</u> as  ch did <u>pain</u> interf home and house	Tere with y work)?	Yes V 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	No ▼ 1	2 2 2
6. 7. D	Accomplished Didn't do work usual uring the <u>past 4 v</u> ncluding both wo	• less than you wo or other activiti weeks, how muo ork outside the A little bit ▼	ould like es as <u>carefully</u> as <b>ch did <u>pain</u> interf home and house</b> Moderately ▼	Yere with y work)? Quite a ▼	Yes	No ▼ I mal work Extreme!	2 2 ] <sup>2</sup> ] y

These questions are about how you feel and how things have been withyou <u>during the past</u> <u>4 weeks</u>. For each question, please give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling.

How much of the time during the past 4 weeks...





	During the <u>past 4 weeks</u> , to what extent were you bothered by eachof the following?					
	Г	Not at all bothered	Somewhat bothered	Moderately bothered	Very much bothered	Extremely bothered
17.	Soreness in your muscles?	▼ 1.	• 2	▼ 3	▼ 	▼ 5
18.	Chest pain?	1.	2			5
19.	Cramps?	1 .	2			5
20.	Itchy skin?		2			5
21.	Dry skin?	□ □ 1 .				5
22.	Shortness of breath?	□ □ 1 .				5
23.	Faintness or dizziness?		2	3	······ 4 ···	5
24.	Lack of appetite?	1.	2			5
25.	Washed out or drained?		2			5
26.	Numbness in hands or feet?		····· 2	3		
27.	Nausea or upset					5
	stomach?	1.	2	3	4	5
28ª.	(Hemodialysis patient only	y)				
	Problems with					
	your access site?	1.	2	3	4	
28 <sup>b</sup> .	(Peritoneal dialysis patient	only)				
	Problems with your catheter site?	1	2 .	3 .		5

